Endogenous and microbial modulators of inflammation

Jamie D. Kraft

Department of Molecular and Clinical Medicine Institute of Medicine Sahlgrenska Academy, University of Gothenburg



UNIVERSITY OF GOTHENBURG

Gothenburg 2023

Cover illustration: Kuriosa by Jamie D. Kraft with the assistance of DALL'E

© Jamie D. Kraft 2023 jamie.kraft@wlab.gu.se

ISBN 978-91-8069-531-2 (PRINT) ISBN 978-91-8069-532-9 (PDF)

Printed in Borås, Sweden 2023 Printed by Stema Specialtryck AB



For Zaida

On the mountains of truth, you can never climb in vain: either you will reach a point higher up today, or you will be training your powers so that you will be able to climb higher tomorrow. – Nietzsche

Endogenous and microbial modulators of inflammation

Jamie D. Kraft

Department of Molecular and Clinical Medicine, Institute of Medicine Sahlgrenska Academy, University of Gothenburg Gothenburg, Sweden

ABSTRACT

Cardiometabolic disease is characterized by dysregulated, chronic inflammation, that may result from impaired resolution pathways or alterations in the gut microbiota. Thus, restoring specialized pro-resolving mediators (SPMs) or intestinal bacteria with immunomodulatory properties represent potential therapeutic strategies for patients.

First, we investigated the ability of the SPMs, lipoxins, to modulate neutrophils from individuals with atherosclerosis. Treatment of neutrophils from patients with atherosclerosis with lipoxins attenuated elevated reactive oxygen species production and expression of the high-affinity conformation of CD11b/18 integrin, and enhanced lymphatic migration. The potential therapeutic effect of lipoxins in atherosclerosis was demonstrated, along with the need to tailor treatment to the requirements of the individual.

Second, for the development of a next-generation probiotic supplementation, we co-isolated *Faecalibacterium prausnitzii* with *Desulfovibrio piger* and demonstrated a cross-feeding mechanism that enhanced growth and butyrate production. *F. prausnitzii* is a highly prevalent and abundant human gut bacteria with immuno-modulatory properties and associations with health. For development into a next-generation probiotic, *F. prausnitzii* was adapted to tolerate exposure to oxygen. *F. prausnitzii* and *D. piger* formulation was well tolerated by mice and humans. We demonstrated a method by which strict anaerobic bacteria can be adapted to tolerate oxygen without impacting potential beneficial properties.

Finally, *D. piger* has been found to be both ubiquitous among individuals but has also been associated with disease. To identify if the discrepancies lie in inter-strain variation, we isolated a *D. piger* strain with genomic similarity to FI11049, previously isolated from a patient with colitis, to compare with the strain co-isolated with *F. pransnitzii*. Anti-inflammatory properties and phenotypic differences were found between the strains. Further studies are required to investigate inter-strain variation to understand disease associations.

Keywords: Inflammation, resolution, specialized pro-resolving mediators, lipoxins, neutrophils, cardiometabolic disease, next-generation probiotic, oxygen-tolerance, *Faecalibacterium prausnitzii*, *Desulfovibrio piger*, inter-strain variation

ISBN 978-91-8069-531-2 (PRINT) ISBN 978-91-8069-532-9 (PDF)

Sammanfattning på Svenska

Inflammation hjälper kroppen att bekämpa infektioner och reparera skadad vävnad, och är därför viktigt för vår överlevnad. När en individ drabbas av en skada utlöses en inflammatorisk kaskad av molekylära signaler av de skadade cellerna. Signalerna gör att immunceller, som bidrar till kroppens försvar mot mikrober, toxiner och skadade celler, rekryteras från blodcirkulationen. Vid inflammation vidgas blodkärlen som svar på proinflammatoriska molekyler, vilket möjliggör ett ökat flöde av syrerikt blod till det skadade området. Infiltration av immunceller och ökad vaskulär permeabilitet leder till vätskeansamling i vävnaden, vilket resulterar i svullnad. De första immuncellerna som kommer till det inflammerade området är neutrofiler. Neutrofilerna bekämpar mikrober med en bred arsenal av vapen och rensar upp skadade celler. När bakterierna eller de skadade cellerna är borta påbörjas en process där ämnen som dämpar inflammationen frisätts. Dessa ämnen signalerar att vävnaden ska repareras och att neutrofilerna ska ätas upp av andra immunceller eller föras bort från platsen via lymfkärlen. Lymfkärlen transporterar celler, molekyler och vätska från de perifera vävnaderna tillbaka till blodcirkulationen. Vid kroniska sjukdomar, som ateroskleros eller diabetes, är de inflammatoriska processerna kroniskt aktiverade. Detta leder till förhöjda nivåer av proinflammatoriska ämnen i blodet och aktivering av immunceller, vilket i sin tur leder till skador på frisk vävnad. Lipoxiner är en grupp naturligt förekommande lipider som dämpar inflammatoriska processer. Vi visar att neutrofiler från individer med ateroskleros är mer aktiverade än neutrofiler från friska kontrollpersoner och att de svarar på lipoxinbehandling genom att sänka sin proinflammatoriska aktivitet.

Tarmens mikrobiota bidrar till att forma vårt immunförsvar genom flera olika mekanismer. Förändringar i tarmfloran förekommer hos personer med kardiometaboliska sjukdomar, t.ex. ateroskleros och typ 2-diabetes. *Faecalibacterium prausnitzii* är en av de vanligaste bakterierna i våra tarmar. Den har immunmodulerande egenskaper och man har visat att personer med kardiometabola sjukdomar har låga *F. prausnitzii* nivåer. Detta indikerar att behandling med *F. prausnitzii* kan ha terapeutisk potential. Vi isolerade *F. prausnitzii* från en frisk individ tillsammans med en stam av bakterien *Desulfovibrio piger*. Vi visade att de båda bakterierna bidrar till varandras tillväxt och till ökad produktion av den immunmodulerande metaboliten butyrat. *F. prausnitzii* är extremt syrekänslig och dör snabbt när den utsätts för syre. För att göra det möjligt att använda levande *F. prausnitzii* i kosttillskott skapade vi, genom stegvis adaptation, en ny stam med ökad syretolerans. Vi visade att odling av den nya stammen tillsammans med *D. piger* ger hög bakterietäthet, vilket möjliggör produktion i industriell skala. Genom studier i möss och människor visade vi att konsumtion av de två bakterierna är säkert.

D. piger förekommer allmänt bland friska individer, men korrelerar också positivt med vissa sjukdomar, och det råder oenighet om *D. piger* är bra eller dålig för hälsan. För att förstå bakgrunden till dessa motsättningar isolerade vi en *D. piger* stam som är nära besläktad med en stam som tidigare isolerats från en kolitpatient. Vi jämförde den nya stammen med den *D. piger* stam vi tidigare isolerat tillsammans med *F. prausnitzii.* Våra resultat visar att stammarnas metabola egenskaper skiljer sig åt. Detta indikerar att de olikheter som rapporterats i tidigare studier kan bero på att man inte tagit hänsyn till stamvariation hos *D. piger*.

Lay Summary

Inflammation is essential to our survival for fighting infections and repairing damaged tissues. When an individual sustains an injury, an inflammatory cascade of molecular signals is launched by the damaged cells. Immune cells are recruited from the blood circulation to defend or provide protection against microbes, toxins, or damaged cells. The first immune cells to arrive on site are known as neutrophils. They have a broad arsenal of weapons to combat microbes and protect from damaged cells. As the infection or injured cells are cleared, another class of molecules are released to promote the resolution of inflammation. These molecules send signals to repair the tissue and for neutrophils to either be eaten up by other immune cells, or to be cleared from the site through the lymphatics.

The cornerstone of chronic diseases is dysregulation of inflammatory pathways. This may be due to impaired molecular signals for promoting inflammatory resolution or an altered gut microbiota that may be promoting inflammation. This can lead to continuous immune cell activation, resulting in damage to healthy tissues.

One potential method of treatment is to promote the resolution of inflammation with specialized molecules known as lipoxins. We show that the front-line defense immune cells, neutrophils, from individuals with atherosclerosis are more activated than healthy controls. They also respond to lipoxin treatment by lowering their pro-inflammatory activity.

Another potential mechanism to target chronic inflammation is to try to restore gut bacteria that have immunomodulatory properties through supplementation. *Faecalibacterium prausnitzii* is one of the most abundant bacteria in our guts, has immune modulating properties and has been found to be lowered in individuals with cardiometabolic disease. Thus, it may provide therapeutic benefits if it can be developed into a supplement. We isolated *F. prausnitzii* from a healthy individual along with another intestinal bacteria known as *Desulfovibrio piger*. They can cross-feed each other to enhance growth and production of the immunomodulatory metabolite, butyrate. *F. prausnitzii* is extremely oxygen sensitive. To develop *F. prausnitzii* into a supplement to be given to people, we adapted it to

tolerate oxygen. Growing the adapted *F. prausnitzii* with *D. piger* yielded enough bacteria to enable production on an industrial level scale for human consumption. We demonstrate that supplementation of these two bacteria is safe for human consumption.

D. piger has been shown to be ubiquitous among healthy adults, but it has also been correlated with certain diseases. The jury is still out on whether this bacterium is detrimental to human health. To identify the reason for contradictory findings, we isolated a strain of *D. piger* that was genomically similar to a strain that was previously isolated from a patient with colitis. We aimed to compare it to the strain that we co-isolated with *F. prausnitzii* and found that the strains differed in growth and metabolism, suggesting that the discrepancies in previous findings may be due to *D. piger* interstrain variation.

List of papers

This thesis is based on the following studies, referred to in the text by their Roman numerals.

- I. <u>Kraft JD</u>, Blomgran R, Bergström I, Soták M, Clark M, Rani A, Rohini Rajan M, Dalli J, Nyström S, Quiding-Järbrink M, Bromberg J, Skoog P, Börgeson E. Lipoxins modulate neutrophil oxidative burst, integrin expression and lymphatic transmigration differentially in human health and atherosclerosis. *The FASEB Journal* 2022; 36 (3) e22173.
- II. Khan MT, Dwibedi C, Sundh D, Pradhan M, <u>Kraft JD</u>, Caesar R, Tremaroli V, Lorentzon M, Bäckhed F. Synergy and oxygen adaptation for development of nextgeneration probiotics. *Nature* 2023; **620**, 381-385.
- III. <u>Kraft JD</u>, Dwibedi C, Makki K, Florén A, Hempenstall E, Bäckhed F, Khan MT, Tremaroli V, Caesar R.
 Phenotypic variation of novel *Desulfovibrio piger* stains isolated from human faeces. *Manuscript*

Contents

Abbreviations	iv
1 Introduction	1
1.1 Immune system	2
1.1.1 Inflammation	3
1.1.2 Frontline troops	4
1.1.3 Resolution of inflammation	7
1.1.4 Lymphatics	11
1.1.5 Cardiometabolic disease	13
1.1.6 Summary	
1.2 Gastrointestinal tract	19
1.2.1 Intestine	
1.2.2 Gut microbiota	21
1.2.3 Gut microbiota and disease	
1.2.4 Microbial metabolites	24
1.2.5 Faecalibacterium prausnitzii	27
1.2.6 Sulfate-reducing bacteria	27
1.2.7 Next-generation probiotics	
1.2.8 Summary	
2 Aims	
2.1 Paper I	
2.2 Paper II	
2.3 Paper III	
3 Methodological considerations	
3.1 Human cohorts	
3.2 Mouse models	
3.3 In vitro cell models	41
3.3.1 Lymphatic endothelial cells	41
3.3.2 Neutrophils	41

3.3.3	Intestinal epithelial cells	42	
3.4 Flow cytometry			
3.4.1	ROS production	43	
3.4.2	Integrin expression	43	
3.5 Mol	lecular methods in gut microbiota research	44	
3.5.1	Use of faeces	44	
3.5.2	Isolation of specific bacteria	44	
3.5.3	Bacterial lab adaptations	46	
3.5.4	Characterization of bacteria	46	
3.5.5	Genomic analyses	47	
4 Results	s and discussion	49	
4.1 Pap	er I	49	
4.1.1	ROS production in neutrophils	49	
4.1.2	Lipoxin effects on neutrophils	50	
4.2 Pap	er II	52	
4.2.1	Identification of bacterial trophic interactions	52	
4.2.2	Adapting bacteria to become oxygen tolerant	53	
4.2.3	Next-generation probiotic formulation safety	53	
4.3 Paper III			
4.3.1	Isolation of D. piger strains	55	
4.3.2	Phenotypic characteristics of D. piger strains	55	
4.3.3	Anti-inflammatory effect of D. piger strains	55	
5 Conclu	ision	57	
6 Limitations and future perspectives			
Acknowledgement			
References			

ABBREVIATIONS

15S-H(p)ETE	15S-hydroperoxyeicosatetraenoic acid
15S-HETE	15S-hydroxyeicosatetraenoic acid
AA	Arachidonic acid
APC	Antigen presenting cell
API	Analytical profile index
CFU	Colony forming units
CRP	C-reactive protein
DAMPs	Damage-associated molecular patterns
DHA	Docosahexanoic acid
EPA	Eicosapentaenoic acid
fMLP	N-formylmethionine-leucyl-phenylalanine
FPR	Formyl peptide receptor
FSC	Forward scatter
GF	Germ-free
GM-CSF	Granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor
GPCR	G-protein coupled receptor
IBD	Inflammatory bowel disease
ICAM-1	Intracellular adhesion molecule-1
IL	Interleukin
LPS	Lipopolysaccharide
LTA ₄	Leukotriene A ₄
LTB_4	Leukotriene B4
LXA ₄	Lipoxin A ₄

LXB_4	Lipoxin B ₄
LYVE-1	Lymphatic vessel endothelial hyaluronan receptor 1
MAGs	Metagenome-assembled genomes
MAMP	Microbial-associated molecular pattern
MPO	Myeoloperoxidase
NAD	Nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide
NADPH	Nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate-oxidase
NAFLD	Non-alcoholic fatty liver disease
NET	Neutrophil extracellular trap
NF- <i>n</i> B	Nuclear factor kappa B
PAF	Platelet activating factor
PCR	Polymerase chain reaction
PRR	Pattern recognition receptors
ROS	Reactive oxygen species
SCFA	Short-chain fatty acid
SPM	Specialized pro-resolving lipid mediator
SRB	Sulfate-reducing bacteria
SSC	Side scatter
TLR	Toll-like receptor
TNBS	Trinitrobenzene sulphonic acid
TNF	Tumour necrosis factor
ZO	Zonula occludens

I INTRODUCTION

From the beginning of life on earth, organisms have been required to adapt and evolve according to their environment to survive. The first signs of life, in the form of unicellular organisms, date back approximately 3.8 billion years, only 750 million years after the earth was formed. The earliest fossil evidence found of presumed multicellularity dates back approximately 2.1 billion years [1]. Over the course of Earth's history, our ancient single-celled predecessors independently gave rise to multicellular organisms on multiple occasions [2]. This leap is theorized to occur out of necessity to adapt to the ever-changing environment [3].

As multicellular organisms evolved, they carried their unicellular counterparts along. Multicellular organisms leveraged the genetic and metabolic diversity of the accompanying unicellular organisms to adapt to their environment without requiring substantial alterations to their own genetic makeup. The unicellular organisms were partitioned in sections according to spatial organization on the multicellular organism, forming what we now call a "holobiont" [4].

The human holobiont, an amalgamation of microbial life and mammalian cells, requires an immune system to regulate what and who can be carried along. The immune system is an elaborate network of processes, cells and chemicals essential to protect the host from infection and repair tissue damage to maintain homeostasis [5, 6]. The microbes on humans have adapted to this environmental niche. Appropriate immune training, selection and adaptation to the environment leads to a symbiotic relationship where both uni- and multicellular organisms can mutually benefit [4]. This complex inter-kingdom relationship occurs within every individual.

The body's immune system responds instantaneously to assaults whether microbial or sterile [6, 7]. Temporally restricted bouts of inflammation are orchestrated by activated immune and non-immune cells to combat infections, toxins and physical injury. Upon eradication of the threat, these cells also promote tissue repair [7]. However, left unchecked, unresolved inflammation can wreak havoc systemically, leading to a cycle of continuous immune activation, and is the underlying feature of many chronic human morbidities [6-9]. Thus, striving to understand factors involved in the onset of inflammation and promoting resolution is essential to breaking the vicious cycle. The aim of this PhD project was to explore the role of both endogenous and microbial modulators of inflammation.

I.I Immune system

The immune system is conventionally classified into innate and adaptive immunity. The innate immune system is the primary line of defense in all multicellular organisms. It instantaneously responds to injury or infection with no immunologic "memory" of the antigen that initiated the response [5]. Activation is initiated by pattern recognition receptors (PRRs) on innate immune cells identifying microbial-associated molecular patterns (MAMPs) or damage-associated molecular patterns (DAMPs) [5]. The rapid responses include pro-inflammatory molecule production, cell recruitment, phagocytosis (engulfment of microbes or cell debris) and killing microbes [5, 10]. It is estimated that around 500 million years ago, the adaptive immune system developed in vertebrates [10]. Complementary to the innate immune system, the adaptive immune system is essential when the innate immune system is unable to combat infection. It responds specifically to an antigen with a slight lag time between recognition to maximal response [5]. The adaptive immune system consists of B cells and T cells that recognize antigens as "self" or "non-self" and generate a pathogen-specific immunological memory of pathways that killed the specific pathogen. Thus, this "memory" allows for a faster and more effective response upon subsequent exposure to the antigen [5]. T cells of the adaptive immune system are presented with antigens from antigen presenting cells (APCs), such as dendritic cells, macrophages or B cells [5]. This promotes proliferation and differentiation of T cells with the receptor to recognize the specific antigen presented to destroy infected cells infected. Upon clearance of infection, most of the T cells die and are cleared through phagocytosis, but a few remain as memory cells to launch a rapid response upon later exposure to the same antigen [5]. B cells can directly recognize and produce antibodies against foreign antigens [5]. The innate and adaptive immune systems work in tandem to defend the host.

Immune training is initiated in utero [11]. The innate immune system responds and/or tolerates foreign substances from the maternal circulation, including microbial metabolites and antigens, as well as autologous molecules [11, 12]. It consists of various cell types including both immune cells (neutrophils, dendritic cells, monocytes and macrophages) and nonimmune cells (epithelial and endothelial cells) [13]. Throughout fetal development, these cell types mature at different stages [14]. All cell types in early development appear to have "impaired" innate signaling pathways with reduced responses to inflammatory stimuli when compared to mature adult cells [14]. This allows the fetus to tolerate maternal antigens, adapt to continuous development and upon birth, to avoid an exaggerated immune response following exposure to the abundance of novel antigens from the outside world [11, 14]. Postpartum, the immature immune system of a newborn infant is exposed to a plethora of microbes, environmental molecules, gases, toxins and particulates, to which it must learn to either tolerate or defend against [14]. As the newborn grows, the immune system rapidly adapts and evolves identifying safe and potential life-threatening substances [14]. The exposure to microbes early in life is important for adaptive immunity and has a lasting impact on the developing immune system [11]. Upon reaching teenage years to early adulthood, the immune system is considered to be fully matured [14].

I.I.I Inflammation

In response to tissue injury, infection or foreign substance recognition, an inflammatory cascade is initiated by both immune and non-immune cells to provide protection to the host [6-8]. Depending on the stimulus and the location in the body, a tightly orchestrated course of events unravels. Resident cells at the site of injury or infection, including epithelial cells, endothelial cells, macrophages and dendritic cells, recognize antigens and release signals. These signals consist of cytokines, lipid mediators, gases and other molecules and are sent to both surrounding and distant cells, leading to the recruitment of immune cells from the circulation [7, 13, 15].

I.I.2 Frontline troops

Neutrophils are the first cells among the innate immune system to be recruited from the circulation to the site of infection or tissue damage. They are the most abundant leukocyte in circulation, representing 50-70% of the total pool. Greater than 10¹¹ neutrophils are produced in the bone marrow each day [9, 16, 17]. "Fresh" neutrophils enter the circulation and become subjected to phenotypic drift as they age and develop distinct properties over the course of approximately 12 hours [16, 18]. The circadian aging process contributes to the heterogeneity of distinct neutrophil phenotypes and function [18, 19].

Equipped with a broad range of receptors, neutrophils can recognize and respond appropriately to signals upon tissue infiltration [17]. They have a tightly regulated munition of molecular weapons ready to attack foreign invaders in response to inflammatory signals [16]. Depending on the stimulus, activated neutrophils have the potential to rapidly release a variety of antimicrobial agents including reactive oxygen species (ROS) or packaged granules containing myeloperoxidase (MPO), lactoferrin, defensins, proteases, antimicrobial peptides or enzymes [16]. In addition to the release of antimicrobial agents, neutrophils can ingest damaged tissue or foreign particles via phagocytosis or release a web of chromatin with cytosolic and granular proteins, known as neutrophil extracellular traps (NETs), to capture microbes [16]. Because of the strong weaponry carried by neutrophils, dysregulated deployment can result in collateral damage to surrounding tissue and in a chronic activated form, can have destructive systemic effects [9].

1.1.2.1 Neutrophil recruitment & activation

There are numerous mechanisms that balance the recruitment and response of neutrophils. The adhesion of neutrophils to vascular endothelial cells depends on the surface expression of adhesion proteins, such as integrins [20]. In healthy individuals, circulating neutrophils have low levels of adhesion proteins, including the glycoprotein receptors CD11b and CD66a, in a resting state. During a steady state, only a small subset, approximately 10%, of neutrophils express these adhesion receptors and are primed (discussed more further down) for rapid recruitment in case of injury [20, 21]. Through pro-inflammatory signals or

through interactions with endothelial integrins upregulated during inflammation, neutrophils become primed to enter tissue [20]. Neutrophil extravasation is initiated with the binding of their glycoprotein receptors to endothelial integrins, followed by rolling along the endothelium and transmigrating into the tissue towards a chemoattractant gradient, known as diapedesis [20, 22]. Chemoattractants are released by cells at the site of damage or infection, such as the pro-inflammatory molecules interleukin-8 (IL-8), platelet activating factor (PAF), complement fraction C5a or Nformylmethionine-leucyl-phenylalanine (fMLP) [22]. fMLP is an N-formyl peptide which is both a byproduct of bacterial metabolism and associated with damaged mitochondria [23, 24]. It binds the G-protein coupled receptors (GPCR), formyl peptide receptor (FPR) 1, 2, and 3, and is a potent chemoattractant and activator for neutrophils [17, 24-26]. When fMLP binds neutrophil FRPs, leukotriene B4 (LTB4), a pro-inflammatory lipid mediator, is released causing the recruitment of exponentially more neutrophils. This leads to "neutrophil swarming," a type of coordinated neutrophil movement in response to acute inflammation [27].

Once in the tissue, PPRs, such as Toll-like receptors (TLRs), on neutrophils recognize chemokines or MAMPs. Neutrophils phagocytose pathogens into a phagosome [22]. Within the phagosome, proteases, myeloperoxidase, antibacterial peptides, and superoxide anions (O₂-) are released, triggered by the activation of the multi-protein membrane-bound nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate-oxidase (NADPH, also known as NOX2) oxidase complex [22]. This successively triggers the release of intra-phagosomal ROS that further aids in killing the microbe [22]. ROS production, including hydroxyl radical, hydrogen peroxide and hypochlorous acid, is a powerful anti-microbial weapon in the neutrophil arsenal that can be released within the phagosome or extracellularly [28]. Stringent regulatory measures are required to keep production in check, as absence of ROS results in severe microbial infections and continuous release can cause excess inflammation leading to severe damage [28].

1.1.2.2 Neutrophil ROS priming

Neutrophil priming is essential to have a rapid innate immune response [29]. Neutrophils can be primed to produce ROS upon binding of GPCRs, TLRs or cytokines receptors [28]. This primed state refers to the assembly

of NADPH oxidase from four segregated cytosolic proteins to two transmembrane proteins [22]. This preparatory stage allows for a more immediate ROS response [22]. For example, pre-treating neutrophils with tumour necrosis factor (TNF)-a or granulocyte-macrophage colonystimulating factor (GM-CSF) led to an elevated fMLP-induced ROS production [22]. Neutrophil chemoattractants such as PAF, IL-8, C5a, LTB₄, and fMLP also have a priming effect. At low concentrations, fMLP has a priming effect while high concentrations can induce ROS production [22]. TLR binding agonists, including microbial lipopolysaccharide (LPS), flagellin, triacylated lipopeptides or zymosan, can also prime neutrophils [22]. High circulating levels of chemoattractants, cytokines or TLR agonists can lead to excessive neutrophil priming, resulting in uncontrolled ROS production and subsequent tissue damage seen in chronic diseases such as atherosclerosis. Thus, utilizing inflammatory resolution pathways to prevent or reduce priming of neutrophil ROS production may be a promising therapeutic strategy in chronic inflammatory diseases.

1.1.3 Resolution of inflammation

Acute inflammation in response to tissue damage or pathogens is inherently self-restricted. Once the threat has been mitigated, inflammation is resolved through a series of synchronous signaling events and tissue homeostasis is restored [7]. The temporal response is modulated by a complex symphony of pro-resolving molecules that actively promote resolution of inflammation [8, 30-34]. These molecules reduce inflammatory signal production, halt immune cell recruitment, stimulate apoptosis of neutrophils and promote a pro-resolving macrophage phenotype, stimulating efferocytosis [8, 33, 35]. Efferocytosis, meaning 'to carry to the grave' in Greek, is the process by which macrophages clear cells and tissue debris by phagocytosis of apoptotic cells [36]. In addition, infiltrated immune cells begin to clear by either egressing through the lymphatics or migrating back into systemic circulation, leading to restoration of tissue homeostasis [35]. The conductors of this symphony of events are pro-resolving mediators including peptides, gaseous mediators, and lipids [8, 33-35, 37].

1.1.3.1 Specialized pro-resolving lipid mediators

Specialized pro-resolving mediators (SPMs) are a class of endogenously produced lipid mediators that have a major role in the resolution of inflammation [35]. They can be derived from either omega-3 (eicosapentaenoic acid (EPA) or docosahexanoic acid (DHA)) or omega-6 fatty acids (arachidonic acid (AA)) through lipoxygenase [35]. AA-derived SPMs include lipoxin A₄ (LXA₄) and lipoxin B₄ (LXB₄). SPMs have a wide range of targets with downstream immunomodulatory pro-resolving effects.

Halting neutrophil recruitment is one of the major processes of resolution, driven by SPMs. SPMs, such as LXA₄ or DHA-derived resolvin D1 and protectin D1, inhibit neutrophil tissue infiltration by preventing neutrophil-endothelial cell interactions or via modulation of cytokine expression [38-43]. In addition, macrophage efferocytosis of neutrophils has been demonstrated to be enhanced by LXA₄ and protectin D1 treatment [32, 44].

The first family of SPMs identified were lipoxins [45]. Interestingly, the production and release of AA-derived lipid mediators occurs at the onset of inflammatory stimuli. Initially, AA is converted into pro-inflammatory eicosanoids such as prostaglandins and leukotrienes, leading to the recruitment of neutrophils, as mentioned above. However, during the acute inflammatory phase, there is a "switch" whereby AA is converted into pro-resolving lipoxins, this is known as lipid-class switching [46].

I.I.3.2 Lipoxin synthesis

Lipoxins can be synthesized through various mechanisms (Figure 1) [35]. In monocytes, eosinophils or airway epithelial cells, 15-lipoxygenase inserts a molecular oxygen into AA yielding 15S-hydroperoxyeicosatetraenoic acid (15S-H(p)ETE) or 15S-hydroxyeicosatetraenoic acid (15S-HETE) [47]. These molecules are shuttled to either neutrophils or monocytes where they are converted to lipoxins by 5-lipoxygenase [45]. The 5-lipoxygenase in neutrophils also produces the pro-inflammatory leukotriene A_4 (LTA₄), which can then be converted to lipoxins by 12-lipoxygenase in platelets through neutrophil-platelet interaction (Figure 1) [45]. In addition, a more stable and potent lipoxin can be synthesized with aspirin treatment of endothelial cells and neutrophils, known as aspirin-triggered lipoxins, 15-epi-lipoxins [48-50].





1.1.3.3 Lipoxins mode of action

Lipoxins act on numerous processes to promote resolution. They alter leukocyte trafficking [39, 40, 51-53], endothelial adhesion [39, 41], chemokine and cytokine expression, action and secretion [53, 54]. Neutrophils are essential for clearance of inflammatory stimuli, but excess activation and numbers can cause severe damage. As such, an important target of lipoxins is the reduction of neutrophils to the site of the injury [8]. Specifically, in neutrophils, LXA₄ treatment also reduces superoxide formation [53], downregulates CD11/18 expression [55, 56], reduces ROS and NET production [54], promotes neutrophil apoptosis and increases phagocytosis of apoptotic neutrophils by macrophages [54, 57] (Figure 2). Thus, lipoxins may represent a potent therapeutic to target neutrophils in chronic inflammatory diseases.





I.I.4 Lymphatics

"White blood" was first described by Hippocrates (460-377 B.C.). He was referring to lymph which consists of immune cells, antigens, nutrients, macromolecules, and excess plasma from blood [58, 59]. Lymphatic vessels are responsible for draining lymph from interstitial tissue space [58, 59]. The lymphatic vasculature is a vast network that maintains tissue homeostasis and modulates inflammation as well as other physiological processes, such as transporting lipids from the intestines [58]. The lymphatic vasculature runs through almost all tissues and is unidirectional. Initial lymphatic vessels in peripheral tissues consist of a single layer of lymphatic endothelial cells which have loose button-like tight junctions that allow the passage of solutes and guide them to the collecting lymphatic vessels through a pressure gradient. Collecting vessels have zipper-like tight junctions that prevent leakage of the lymph as it is directed to the lymph nodes [58, 59]. The adaptive immune response is initiated in the lymph nodes. Once filtered through the lymph nodes, the lymph then proceeds to the subclavian vein and back into systemic circulation [58-61]. The lymphatics act as an immune surveillance network by providing continuous information from peripheral tissues to the lymph nodes [59].

Unlike the blood vasculature, research on the lymphatics had been limited due to the lack of lymphatic endothelial cell markers preventing visualization. However, since the 1990s. lymphatic research has exploded with the identification of both markers for distinguishing lymphatics, such as lymphatic vessel endothelial hyaluronan receptor 1 (LYVE-1, Figure 3), and the development of *in vitro* models [58].



Figure 3. Immunofluorescent image of the lymphatic and blood vessels in mouse ear. Lymphatic endothelial vessels were stained with LYVE-1 antibody (green) and blood vessels were stained with CD31 (red).

Proper functioning of the lymphatic system is intricately associated with numerous physiological and pathological processes. Perturbed lymphatic function leads to accumulation of pro-inflammatory cells and signaling molecules that results in a chronic feedback loop fueling inflammation. Lymphatic impairment and irregular morphology are found in chronic diseases, such as cardiovascular disease [60]. In atherosclerosis, the lymphatics have an important role in macromolecule clearance, immune cell egression and reverse cholesterol transport [59, 62]. Thus, therapeutics promoting lymphatic drainage to clear inflammatory cells and signaling is essential for maintaining tissue homeostasis in disease.

1.1.5 Cardiometabolic disease

When the immune system is continuously activated or resolution is impaired, a state of chronic low-grade inflammation occurs leading to a surfeit of morbidities, such as cardiometabolic disease [8, 63, 64]. As the global prevalence of obesity is surging to pandemic proportions, so are the associated cardiometabolic diseases, including cardiovascular disease and type 2 diabetes [65, 66]. Metabolic syndrome is characterized by hypertension, central adiposity, dyslipidaemia and insulin resistance [64]. Due to sustained levels of inflammation, individuals with obesity have a higher frequency of cardiovascular disease and diabetes than those with a healthy weight [67]. The increased visceral fat drives vascular and systemic inflammation through shifts in adipokine production and additional secretion of pro-inflammatory mediators, which are correlated with the onset of insulin resistance and diabetes [68, 69]. In addition, skeletal muscle inflammation in individuals with obesity contributes to insulin resistance. This occurs due to increased pro-inflammatory macrophages in the muscles resulting in a shift in the production of myokines [68]. Individuals with diabetes have higher levels of innate immune acute-phase proteins, such as plasminogen activator inhibitor, haptoglobin, fibrinogen, sialic acid, serum amyloid A and C-reactive protein (CRP), as well as proinflammatory cytokines [69, 70]. Consequently, elevated levels of certain pro-inflammatory markers, such as CRP and serum amyloid A, are strong predictors of cardiovascular disease and are associated with increased risk of adverse cardiovascular events [69, 71-74]. The trinity of these comorbidities, diabetes, obesity, and cardiovascular disease, is underscored by chronic-low grade systemic inflammation [64, 72].

1.1.5.1 Cardiovascular disease

Cardiovascular disease remains the leading cause of chronic morbidity and mortality worldwide [63]. It is a group of disorders of the heart and blood vasculature that start asymptomatically in early adulthood and progress throughout the aging process [75]. Specifically, atherosclerosis, vascular plaque accumulation in the artery, is mainly driven by lifestyle choices including cigarette smoking, exposure to toxins, lack of movement, continuous stress, poor diet and sleep quality that increase inflammation [9].

Atherosclerosis is a progressive thickening and hardening of arterial walls as plaque builds up [75]. As the artery narrows, there is a reduced supply of blood that can lead to other cardiovascular diseases including stroke, peripheral arterial disease, and coronary artery disease [76]. The onset of atherosclerosis is initiated with a lesion in the arterial wall causing damage to the endothelial cell lining and/or the accumulation of low-density lipoproteins in the wall [76]. The oxidation-prone low-density lipoproteins along with the endothelial damage in the lesion launches an inflammatory response by both the innate and adaptive immune system. The response results in activation of platelets, oxidative stress, and upregulation of endothelial cell adhesion molecules, including selectin, vascular cell adhesion molecule-1 and intercellular adhesion molecule-1 (ICAM-1) [76, 77] (Figure 4). Circulating monocytes bind these receptors and migrate into the endothelium between the endothelial cells and the vascular smooth muscle cells [76, 77]. Infiltrating monocytes differentiate into macrophages triggered by macrophage colony-stimulating factor [76]. Macrophages accumulate oxidized low-density lipoproteins through scavenger receptors and form foam cells, leading to the development of a fatty streak [76, 77]. The low-density lipoproteins also bind TLRs and lead to the secretion of additional cytokines and chemokines, further exacerbating inflammation by causing the recruitment of more immune cells, such as neutrophils. Migration of leukocytes mediated by chemokine signaling is a key step in the formation and progression of atherosclerotic lesions [78]. The increased inflammation as a result of neutrophils in the atherosclerotic lesion, in turn, leads to the recruitment of additional monocytes and a vicious pro-inflammatory cycle.

As more immune cells are recruited and activated, the fatty streak plaque continues to accumulate and fill with foam cells until they are oxygen deprived and begin to die. This results in a lipid-rich necrotic core which is the next stage of atherosclerosis, the fibrous plaque [77]. As the plaque worsens to an advanced stage, the surrounding cells produce a fibrous cap to stabilize the plaque. The chronic inflammatory state of the plaque wall can cause it to become a "vulnerable" plaque, characterized by a necrotic core and a thin fibrous cap. These plaques can rupture and are the most common cause of cardiovascular death [68, 74, 79, 80].

1.1.5.2 Neutrophils in atherosclerosis

Notably, elevated levels of neutrophils infiltrating in plaques are associated with acute coronary events [81] and elevated circulating neutrophils in individuals with peripheral artery disease are a predictor of future cardiovascular events [82]. Circulating neutrophils are increased under conditions of hypercholesterolaemia and hyperglycaemia, which are strong risk factors for cardiovascular disease [19, 83, 84]. Moreover, neutrophils have been implicated in accelerating atherosclerotic plaque development, decreasing stability, and associated with plaque rupture [78, 85, 86]. Studies have demonstrated that either depleting neutrophils or preventing neutrophilia in a mouse model of atherosclerosis attenuated plaque formation [85, 87]. In the plaque, neutrophils secrete pro-inflammatory molecules and NETs, and are associated with increased intimal apoptosis [85, 88] (Figure 4). In a hyperglycaemic environment, neutrophils produce S100A8 and S100A9, which are alarmins that drive myelopoiesis, thrombocytosis, and increase platelet numbers, promoting atherogenesis [19]. Further, circulating neutrophils interact with platelets in chronic inflammatory conditions leading to vascular adhesion and formation of NETs, exacerbating platelet activation [89] (Figure 4). Another study has demonstrated that elevated levels of neutrophil-derived membrane vesicles are found in mice fed with high-fat diets [90]. In an atherosclerosis mouse model fed a high fat diet, neutrophil membrane vesicles increased vascular inflammation, enhanced macrophage accumulation in the plaque and exacerbated atherosclerosis progression [90]. As the front-line troops, the role of neutrophils in atherosclerosis is now well recognized, thus they represent a promising cell to target to promote inflammatory resolution to reduce their collateral damage.



Figure 4. Role of neutrophils in atherosclerosis. Neutrophils are recruited across vascular endothelium, into the atherosclerotic plaque and become activated and degranulate. They release ROS, granules containing myeloperoxidase (MPO) and NETs that increase integrin expression, such as ICAM-1, leading to additional immune cell recruitment. Further, they interact and activate platelets in circulation. Continuous activation of the neutrophil arsenal of weapons leads to an increased necrotic core and can lead to plaque destabilization. (Created with Biorender)

1.1.5.3 Therapeutics targeting inflammatory resolution

Instead of trying to halt a natural response to an inflammatory stimulus, enhancing resolving capacity of the body is of great interest when treating chronic inflammatory diseases. There are an increasing number of trials supplementing omega-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids to individuals with cardiometabolic disease in an attempt to increase SPMs to enhance inflammatory resolution [91-96]. For example, trials supplementing omega-3 fatty acids or fish oil to patients with cardiovascular disease found increases in SPMs in plasma [91, 94]. While there are fewer human studies on drugs targeting inflammatory resolution compared to those which inhibit inflammation in cardiometabolic diseases, there are studies that assess the effects of pro-resolving drugs in other inflammatory-related pathologies. For example, an injection of a cocktail of SPMs into a site of inflammation (blister) reduced the number of granulocytes, indicating an enhanced resolution [97].

The therapeutic potential of lipoxins in cardiovascular disease has been assessed in experimental *ex vivo* or rodent models. For instance, *ex vivo* LXA₄ treatment in human whole blood reduced neutrophil-platelet aggregation by modulating neutrophil integrin activation [98]. Further, treatment of *ex vivo* human atherosclerotic plaques with LXA₄ promoted transcription of pro-resolving microRNAs [99] or attenuated inflammation through inhibition of pro-inflammatory cytokine release [100]. Similarly, in mice, lipoxin treatment attenuated atherosclerotic plaque development or significantly reduced atherosclerotic lesions [100-102]. These studies demonstrate the efficacy in animal and *ex vivo* models of lipoxin treatment in reducing inflammation and potentially attenuating cardiovascular disease development.

I.I.6 Summary

In summary, individuals with cardiometabolic disease have dysregulated chronic levels of inflammation. Neutrophils are now well recognized as major contributors to atherosclerotic plaque development and rupture. Further, impaired lymphatic function is also a key feature of cardiovascular disease. Thus, targeting the body's endogenous inflammatory resolution pathways may be a promising therapeutic strategy for treating individuals with atherosclerosis. Exogenous lipoxin treatment has been shown to modulate neutrophil function which is further explored in **Paper I**.

I.2 Gastrointestinal tract

The human digestive tract can be seen as a tube-like structure, from mouth to anus, that is incessantly exposed to foreign substances and environmental factors [103]. Thus, the approximately 8–9-meter long gastrointestinal tract is equipped with the largest portion of the immune system [103, 104]. It begins in the mouth, followed by the pharynx (throat) to the esophagus, stomach, small intestine (duodenum, jejunum, ileum), large intestine, rectum and ending in the anus [103]. We have a complex digestive system responsible for harvesting energy from organic molecules we consume from the environment (Box 1).

BOX 1.

When an individual takes a bite of an apple slice covered in peanut butter, the digestion process begins. With a jaw force between 100 to 400 N, the chewing motion initiates salivation and breaks down the apple into smaller pieces [103]. The saliva contains amylases and lingual lipases that enzymatically degrade the starches in the apple into disaccharides and begin to metabolize lipids in the peanut butter [103]. The chewed up semi-broken down apple bits with the peanut butter and saliva form a bolus and are then swallowed down the esophagus by the pharynx, pushed through by peristalsis across the cardia to the acidic environment of the fasted stomach (pH



1-3) [103]. An empty stomach forms wrinkles and folds, called rugae, and has a volume of 25-50 mL. After an average meal it expands to 1-1.5 L. When fully stretched, the stomach volume can reach 4 L [103]. In the stomach, the bolus undergoes further degradation through both mechanical and chemical mechanisms. Enzymes are secreted by specialized cells lining the stomach wall to further break down proteins and lipids [103]. In addition, the acidity level of the stomach acts as a filter for the microbes coated on the apple [105]. The muscles surrounding the stomach contract to grind, mix and push the digestive juices and food particles (now called chyme), after 1 to 3 hours, across the pylorus and into the duodenum. This triggers a cascade of hormone, bile and pancreatic digestive enzyme secretion [103]. The liver produces bile which is stored in the gall bladder and is released into the duodenum to emulsify lipids permitting absorption. Most of the nutrients from food, such as the fructose from the apple and the fats from the peanut butter, will be absorbed in the 6-7-meter-long small intestine. The folds and the villi of the small intestine create a surface area of approximately 4500 m² for the absorption of monosaccharides, amino acids, phosphates, minerals and vitamins over the course of 1-5 hours [103]. The microvilli at the border secrete a variety of enzymes that further degrade digestive products. Anything left unabsorbed makes it through the ileocecal valve to the large intestine where the undigested substrates reach the largest population of microbes in our bodies [103].

I.2.1 Intestine

In the intestine, there is a single layer of epithelial cells that separates the immune cells harbored in the lamina propria from the teeming microbial life in the lumen through both chemical and physical barriers [104, 106]. Maintenance of these barriers preserves homeostatic conditions and prevents unnecessary inflammatory responses to commensal microbes or safe foreign substances [104, 106]. There are various types of intestinal epithelial cells, such as absorptive epithelial cells, Paneth cells, microfold cells, enteroendocrine cells, tuft cells, and goblet cells [107]. All differentiate from stem cells at the base of the crypts and have important roles in modulating the host response to the intestinal environment [107].

Absorptive intestinal epithelial cells are joined by tight junction proteins, such as tetraspan transmembrane claudins and occludins and the intracellular peripheral membrane protein zonula occludens (ZO) [107]. These tight junction proteins are able to size- or charge-exclude solutes from paracellular passage [108]. The tight junction proteins are at the base of the microvilli, followed by adherens junction, linked to actin-based microfilaments, and lower down, desmosomes, associated with cytokeratin-based intermediate filaments, forming the apical junction complex [108].

On the luminal surface, intestinal epithelial cells secrete a protective layer of transmembrane glycoproteins, known as the glycocalyx [109]. The glycocalyx is a network of glycolipids or glycoproteins acting as sites for bacterial adhesion. This interaction promotes the attachment of mutualistic microbes thus hindering the colonization of pathogens [109]. The mucus is an additional protective layer secreted by goblet cells. It is enriched in mucins, an intricate matrix of glycoproteins, that are produced and secreted in response to the crosstalk between microbes or their metabolites and the host [107]. The mucus layer in the colon is much thicker than in the small intestine due to an increased number of goblet cells, forming both an inner and looser outer layer to separate the densely populated microbial community [107]. In a healthy individual, the colonic inner mucus is free of microbes due to the secretion or transport of antimicrobial molecules, such as β -defensins, by the intestinal epithelial cells [107]. Whereas the outer colonic mucosal layer contains microbes adapted to this niche that
utilize mucins as their energy source [107]. In the small intestine, the mucus layer is thin to facilitate absorption of nutrients. Specialized secretory epithelial cells, known as Paneth cells, secrete an array of antimicrobial molecules, such as the peptide α -defensin, limiting the proliferation of microbes in this environment [107, 110]. Thus, the intestinal epithelial cells modulate the microbial community contained within which, in turn, has a profound impact on the immune system and modulation of inflammation.

I.2.2 Gut microbiota

From training our immune systems, to protecting us from pathogens to harvesting energy, the microbes in our gut have been invaluable for our evolution, fitness and overall health [111]. A wide array of organisms, including bacteria, archaea, viruses, phages and fungi have established residence in our intestinal environment [112]. It is estimated that the gut microbiome contains greater than 500 times more genes than our human genome [113]. Through multiple trophic interactions, the microbes in our gut extract energy from food, metabolize drugs, degrade toxins, and produce bioactive molecules that can signal to various organs throughout the body [4, 111, 112, 114, 115]. The gut microbiota produces or modifies bioactive molecules such as vitamins, amino acids, lipids, and bile acids which are utilized or recognized by host cells and induce a response [4, 64, 111, 112, 114-116]. A mutualistic relationship occurs within the human holobiont dependent on continuous crosstalk between the host and the microbiota in health.

High microbial gene richness, diversity and a relatively stable composition are all key features of what is considered to be a "healthy" microbiota [112]. Our gut microbiota is influenced by a host of factors, including, but not limited to, birth mode, breastfeeding, medication, environmental exposure, exercise frequency, lifestyle, diet, age, medication and host genetics [114, 115, 117-130]. The microbiota composition is unique among individuals but also varies within an individual depending on time of day, previous meals, stress levels, social interaction, hormones, and topography (the environment within the gut) [131-137]. For example, the small intestine has a high flow rate, bile concentration and antimicrobial peptides, which all limit bacterial growth and create an environmental niche. Therefore, the bacterial density is relatively low [138, 139]. Whereas, the colon has a slower flow, a more neutral pH and less antimicrobial molecules which permits increased microbial density within communities [139]. As there is a decreasing oxygen gradient from the mucosa to the lumen, the colonic microbiota consists of more anaerobic microbes [118, 139]. The colon is estimated to be the most densely populated community of microbes on earth [140]. Thus, maintaining a diverse and balanced intestinal ecosystem can contribute to host health.

1.2.3 Gut microbiota and disease

Alterations in gut microbiota composition have been studied in relation to human diseases, including cardiometabolic disease [70, 141-144]. However, a meta-analysis found that several of the studies exploring compositional changes in the gut microbiota of obese individuals were underpowered [145]. There is not a typical microbial signature that defines individuals with obesity or diabetes. However, their microbiota is frequently associated with low gene richness and decrease of commensals, such as butyrate-producing bacteria [64, 146-148]. Individuals who were overweight or obese with low gene richness had worse metabolic parameters with increased fasting serum triglycerides, insulin resistance, higher LDL cholesterol and inflammation compared to those who were obese with higher gene richness [147]. Increasing gene richness through energy-restricted dietary intervention decreased adiposity, circulating cholesterol and highly sensitive CRP (a marker of inflammation). Thus, this indicates that restoring gene richness can be associated with improvements in metabolic parameters [147].

Other studies have found an inverse association with body mass index and *Christensenellaceae*, which has been shown to be enriched in lean individuals [129, 149]. Whereas *Ruminococcus gnavus* has been associated with increased body fat percentage, even with adjustment for confounding variables [148]. Further, multiple studies have found that individuals with type 2 diabetes or prediabetes have a decreased abundance of commensals such as *Akkermansia muciniphila* and several butyrate-producers, such as *Alistipes* spp., *Clostridium* spp., *Roseburia* spp., *Oscillibacter*, and *Faecalibacterium prausnitzii* [142, 150-154]. Butyrate-producing bacteria play an important role in intestinal ecology with several beneficial effects that modulate host physiology, discussed in more detail in section 1.2.4.1. Importantly, when

investigating the role of the gut microbiota in obesity and metabolic disease, it is important to note that associations are partial to diet-microbe interactions because microbiota composition is strongly influenced by diet [64, 70, 155]. In summary, these findings indicate some association between metabolic disease, gene richness and altered gut microbiota.

1.2.3.1 Causal role of the microbiota

To explore the causal role of the microbiota in health and disease pathophysiology, germ-free (GF) mice models have been used as the gold standard. When GF and conventionally-raised mice were fed a chow diet, the GF mice ate more, but had a significantly lower body fat percentage and adiposity [156]. GF mice colonized with microbiota of conventionallyraised mice lowered their food intake but had a significant increase in body fat percentage [156]. Another study demonstrated that human microbiota transferred from a lean twin or their obese counterpart to GF mice transmitted the phenotype, i.e., the mice that received the microbiota from the obese twin gained significantly more body mass and adiposity compared to the mice that received the lean twin's microbiota [157]. Notably, when the mice with the obese microbiota were cohoused with the mice with the lean microbiota, they did not develop increased adiposity when fed a low-fat, high fiber diet, however, this attenuation was muted if the cohoused mice were fed a high saturated fat diet that was low in fiber [157]. These studies highlight the importance of the gut microbiota in developing an obese phenotype. Further, adipose inflammation, which is associated with glucose metabolism, is lower in GF mice [158, 159]. Individuals with type 2 diabetes have increased levels of circulating LPS, known as metabolic endotoxemia [160]. LPS is the major component of the outer membrane of Gram-negative bacteria. Increased levels of LPS contribute to insulin resistance by activating the immune system and upregulating inflammatory cytokines [160, 161]. Continuous infusion of LPS in mice increased body weight, adipose tissue, and liver weight as well as fasted glycemia and insulinemia [161]. Taken together, these studies demonstrate a causal role for the microbiota in modulating fat storage and metabolism in mice.

1.2.4 Microbial metabolites

Dietary interventions have demonstrated that microbiota-derived metabolites can alter metabolic pathways [64, 114, 116]. Short chain fatty acids (SCFAs) are produced by microbial fermentations of non-digestible dietary fibers, as well as peptides. They have wide ranging effects that include regulating hormone production, appetite, pancreatic function, and insulin release [115, 162]. SCFAs, including acetate, propionate and butyrate, can modulate metabolic pathways by binding to GPCRs, such as free fatty acid receptor 2 (FFAR2), also known as GPR-43, expressed on intestinal epithelial cells, as well as adipocytes and immune cells [163]. Mice deficient of FFAR2 became obese despite consuming a regular diet. Conversely, even on a high-fat diet, mice overexpressing FFAR2 remained lean [164]. Further, in these mouse models, if they were raised germ-free or treated with antibiotics, they maintained a lean phenotype, highlighting the importance of the microbiota and their metabolites in metabolic pathways [164].

Further, microbially produced metabolites derived from food can also result in harmful consequences. For example, imidazole propionate is a microbially produced metabolite from the diet-derived amino acid, histidine, and is elevated in individuals with type 2 diabetes [165]. Mice treated with imidazole propionate had impaired insulin signaling and glucose tolerance [166]. A predictive risk factor of cardiovascular is the phosphatidylcholine or choline-derived microbial metabolite, trimethylamine, that is rapidly oxidized to trimethylamine-N-oxide (TMAO) in the liver [167, 168]. TMAO treatment exacerbates atherosclerotic development in mice [168]. Further, the gut microbiome's increased potential to produce branched-chain amino acids (BCAAs) correlates with insulin resistance, characterized by elevated serum BCAAs [169]. BCAAs are derived from either food or from the gut microbiota. Supplementation with a species driving BCAA biosynthesis, Prevotella copri, led to an increase in serum BCAAs, insulin resistance and worsened glucose tolerance in mice [169]. These brief examples underscore the significant role microbially produced metabolites play in metabolism, shaping outcomes in potentially beneficial or detrimental ways.

I.2.4.1 Butyrate

Butyrate is a microbially produced SCFA that plays an important role in maintaining gastrointestinal health [170]. Concentrations of butyrate in the intestinal lumen ranges between 10 to 20 mM and approximately 95% is absorbed by colonic epithelial cells [171]. The effect of butyrate on epithelial cells is multifaceted and produces distinct and sometimes opposing outcomes dependent on the target and concentration. One of its main functions is as a primary energy provider for colonocytes through β oxidation and the tricarboxylic acid cycle [171]. In addition, butyrate improves intestinal barrier function and plays an immunomodulatory role [172, 173]. For instance, butyrate treatment in vitro can induce transcription of tight-junction proteins and can increase or maintain transepithelial resistance [174-178]. It can also inhibit histone deacetylases involved in nuclear factor kappa B (NF-xB)-induced pro-inflammatory cytokine production [172] and increase the expression of the anti-inflammatory cytokine IL-10 [176]. Interestingly, based on functional annotation analyses, individuals with type 2 diabetes have decreased butyrateproducing potential [179]. Thus butyrate-producers represent promising next-generation probiotics for the treatment of metabolic diseases.

1.2.4.2 Hydrogen sulfide

Gasotransmitters are small gas molecules which can be produced both endogenously and enzymatically in a regulated fashion and by microbes. They are permeable to membranes, have well-defined and specific functions, cellular or molecular targets and can induce physiological changes [180]. The trinity of gasotransmitters consists of nitric oxide, carbon monoxide and hydrogen sulfide [180].

Hydrogen sulfide is produced in every organ system in the body and over the past 20 years has been emerging as an important modulator of a wide range of physiological processes. In host cells, it is endogenously produced through cystathionine γ -lyase, cystathionine β -synthase, and 3-mercaptopyruvate sulfurtransferase [181]. It is also produced through anaerobic respiration of sulfur-containing substrates by intestinal microbes [182]. At low levels, hydrogen sulfide serves as a pro-resolving mediator that promotes inflammatory resolution through inhibiting leukocyte infiltration, inducing neutrophil apoptosis, reducing pro-inflammatory signaling and promoting tissue repair [183-186]. In the gut it exerts beneficial effects through enhancing mucus production, defense, healing and inflammatory resolution [184]. For instance, hydrogen sulfide treatment protected the intestinal epithelial cell model, Caco-2, from inflammation-induced increases in permeability [187]. In addition, hydrogen sulfide prevents pro-inflammatory cytokine production through inhibiting the activation of the NF-*x*B-pathway [187]. Hydrogen sulfide also affects leukocyte migration by downregulating adhesion molecules [188, 189] and promotes inflammatory resolution in rat intestinal models of colitis [186]. It also acts as a vasodilator and can increase gastric mucosal blood flow and protect from nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drug-induced gastric injury [188]. These highlighted instances provide a glimpse into the potent beneficial regulatory effects of the ideal concentration of hydrogen sulfide in the gastrointestinal tract.

However, hydrogen sulfide is a Jekyll and Hyde molecule that exhibits complex duality within the human body. While it is an essential gasotransmitter regulating multiple physiological and cellular functions, excessive amounts can result in detrimental consequences [180, 182, 185, 187, 190-193]. For example, elevated levels of hydrogen sulfide in the gut can cause damage to the intestinal mucus and prevent intestinal epithelial cells from oxidizing butyrate [194, 195]. Hydrogen sulfide can affect cell cycles by reducing intestinal epithelial cell proliferation and inducing acute hypoxia [196, 197]. In addition, increased levels of hydrogen sulfide have been correlated with colon cancer and inflammatory bowel disease (IBD) [194, 198, 199]. These mechanistic studies taken together with clinical observations demonstrate the necessity of maintaining appropriate concentrations of hydrogen sulfide in the intestine.

1.2.5 Faecalibacterium prausnitzii

One of the most abundant bacteria in healthy human adults is Faecalibacterium prausnitzii [200]. F. prausnitzii is a non-motile, gram-positive, non-spore forming bacteria part of the Firmicutes phylum, Clostridia class and Ruminococcaceae family [201]. The reference strain A2-165 was the first complete genome of F. prausnitzii and was sequenced during the 'Human Microbiome Project' [201]. This glucose-fermenting strict anaerobe plays an important role in intestinal ecology by producing formate, lactate and ample amounts of butyrate [201]. In addition to butyrate production, F. prausnitzii releases other molecules which have anti-inflammatory effects both in vitro and in vivo [200-205]. In Caco-2 cells, F. prausnitzii supernatant dampened IL-8 secretion in response to IL-1ß stimulation by inhibiting NF-xB activation [203]. In addition, in mononuclear cells, F. prausnitzii treatment induced production of the anti-inflammatory cytokine IL-10 and lowered production of pro-inflammatory IFN-y and IL-12 [203]. In a mouse model of colitis induced by 2,4,6-trinitrobenzenesulphonic acid (TNBS), both the bacteria and the cultured media protected against the damaging effects of TNBS [203]. Decreased levels of F. prausnitzii have been associated with diseases such as IBD, atherosclerosis, diabetes and obesity [142, 179, 203, 206]. Due to its anti-inflammatory properties, butyrate-production capacity and associations with healthy microbiota, development of F. prausnitzii as a next-generation probiotic may be a promising supplement for individuals with cardiometabolic disease.

1.2.6 Sulfate-reducing bacteria

Sulfate-reducing bacteria (SRB) influence microbial community composition in the earth's ecosystem and may have a similar role in the gastrointestinal tract [207, 208]. They can metabolize both organic and inorganic sources of sulfate, either from the diet, the host, or other gut microbes through dissimilatory sulfate reduction to yield hydrogen sulfide [209, 210]. In the gut, SRB, such as species of *Desulforibrio*, use sulfate as an electron acceptor and utilize the fermentation by-products, hydrogen and lactate, as electron donors, yielding acetate [209, 210] (Figure 5).



Figure 5. Role of sulfate-reducing bacteria (SRB) in the gut. In the colon, fermenting gut bacteria metabolize dietary fibers, proteins and mucus components yielding SCFAs, as well as byproducts, such as lactate and gases, hydrogen (H_2) , carbon dioxide (CO_2) or methane (CH_4) [211-213]. To regenerate nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide (NAD+), multiple fermenters utilize H+ to accept electrons, producing H_2 [211]. In all living cells, NAD+ is required for metabolism of the cell as a co-substrate, an enzyme and redox cofactor [214, 215]. Accumulation of H_2 in the colon prevents primary *fermenters from renewing NAD+, inhibiting their ability to ferment and grow* [212]. Thus, timely removal of H_2 by microbes including acetogens, methanogens and SRB is necessary to maintain intestinal homeostasis [211, 212, 216]. SRB use sulfate as an electron acceptor and can use hydrogen or lactate as electron donors. Sulfate is reduced through a series of steps with adenosine triphosphate (ATP) sulfurylase, adenosine-'5'-phosphosulfate (APS) reductase and dissimilatory sulfite reductase to vield acetate and hydrogen sulfide. These trophic interactions have a potential to promote synergistic interactions in gut microbial communities. (Created with Biorender)

In the human gut, sulfate sources include diet, intestinal mucins, and amino acids, such as cysteine or taurine [209, 210]. Diet is the main source of sulfate and sulfur absorption is important for amino acid formation. Foods high in sulfate include breads, dried fruit and brassica vegetables, or beverages such as beer and wine [217]. Hence, intestinal sulfate levels vary between individuals, and dietary intake is a strong mediator of SRB abundance in the intestine. SRB abundance and composition impacts the amount of hydrogen sulfide produced in the intestine [209].

The most well studied intestinal species are *Desulfovibrio*, *Desulfobacter*, *Desulfobulbus* and *Desulfotomaculum* [216]. The genus, *Desulfovibrio*, accounts for 67-91% of SRBs present in the human gut [194, 218]. *Desulfovibrio* are Gram-negative bacilli that are facultative anaerobic, non-fermenting and characterized by the presence of the pigment desulfoviridin [219-221].

1.2.6.1 Sulfate-reducing bacteria and disease

SRB presence and abundance has traditionally been associated with diseases and inflammation [190, 222-228]. Multiple case reports have isolated SRB *Desulfovibrio* species, mainly *D. desulfuricans* and *D. fairfieldensis*, from blood cultures of individuals with bacteremia or abscesses and have suggested these species as causative agents [229-235]. For example, SRB isolated from faeces of individuals with colitis induced apoptosis in an *in vitro* intestinal epithelial cell model, however, interestingly, SRB from healthy controls had no effect [223]. Furthermore, intestinal *Desulfovibrio* has been associated with Parkinson's disease [225, 226, 228] and found to be enriched in individuals with IBD and ulcerative colitis [227].

However, due to low-resolution and limited data availability, studies have yet to establish a correlation between intestinal *Desulfovibrio* and disease. For example, one study identified similar levels of *Desulfovibrio* in faecal samples and rectal biopsies from both individuals with ulcerative colitis and healthy controls, regardless of age [236]. Further, Scanlan *et al.* quantified *Desulfovibrio sp.* with polymerase chain reaction (PCR) from individuals with colorectal cancer, polypectomized patients, and two healthy control groups of elderly and young adults. In all samples, *Desulfovibrio* was detected and there was a significant reduction in *Desulfovibrio* counts in the colorectal cancer group compared to polypectomized patients and young healthy adults. Specifically, *Desulfovibrio piger* predominance was a feature of both healthy and diseased groups [237]. Similarly, another study found no difference in the counts of SRB isolated from individuals with ulcerative colitis compared to controls [238]. These studies indicate that *Desulfovibrio* spp. are ubiquitous in the intestinal tract of humans, but SRB distribution and activity in relation to human diseases remains poorly understood.

With the rise of metagenomic sequencing and technical advances, high resolution identification of subspecies and strains enable high throughput analyses of complex environments [239]. Traditional methods were limited in that they were low-resolution and relied on culturing bacterial isolates of microbial communities. We now recognize that there is substantial variability not only between different species, but also between strains [239]. For example, Escherichia coli inter-strain variability demonstrates that one species can have either environmental, commensal or pathogenic strains [240]. Studies referencing only the genera in the title of an article fail to adequately encompass the comprehensive insights into the effects of a specific SRB species or strain associated with disease [190, 218, 222, 224-228, 241, 242]. This practice has led to review articles making sweeping assumptions about associations of SRB or Desulfovibrio with disease. Whereas other articles unambiguously referenced the species D. desulfuricans [229, 243-255] or D. fairfieldensis [231, 256, 257] in the title which benefits the readers by specifying the species in relation to disease. The increased accessibility of cost-effective sequencing and advancements of metagenomic tools has made it feasible to decipher species and strains. Thus, research investigating species and strain level variations of SRB will provide further insight into their role in disease.

1.2.6.2 Desulfovibrio piger

The first reported strain of *D. piger*, previously known as *Desulfomonas pigra*, was isolated from human faeces [258]. *D. piger* has yet to be isolated outside of the gut, indicating a strong likelihood that this species is adapted to a specific ecological niche within this habitat [220, 259]. In faecal samples from healthy individuals, *D. piger* has been identified as the most abundant of the *Desulfovibrio* species [212, 260].

Associations of *D. piger* with health-related parameters and disease states are contradictory, perhaps due to the lack of strain resolution mentioned above. For example, D. piger was enriched in faeces of children with obesity and non-alcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD) compared to obese controls without NAFLD [261]. Additionally, individuals hospitalized for IBD had significantly higher D. piger prevalence compared to healthy controls measured through PCR [218]. On the contrary, Chen et al. [260] found that D. *piger* was positively associated with certain characteristics of a "healthy" microbiota, such as community diversity and abundance of commensal genera, including Akkermansia, Faecalibacterium, Roseburia, Bacteroides, Coprococcus and Oscillospira. In addition, Desulfovibrio was negatively correlated with genera that are generally considered deleterious to health, such as Escherichia, Klebsiella, Ralstonia and Clostridium [260]. Further, they demonstrated that a strain which clusters in the D. piger clade, based on a phylogenetic tree, was negatively correlated with BMI, waist circumference, uric acid, and triglycerides, while having a positive correlation with systolic blood pressure, high-density lipoproteins, and sleep time [260]. These opposing findings may indicate that high metagenomic resolution to the strain level is required to distinguish between disease and health-related parameter associations with D. piger.

Mouse studies of *D. piger* have been performed to elucidate its role in the intestine. High-fat diet-induced obese mice gavage-fed with D. piger type strain, ATCC 29098, for 4 weeks, had increased liver steatosis and fibrosis. Surprisingly, they had improved insulin sensitivity compared to the control obese mice [261]. Interestingly, after longer term supplementation with D. piger ATCC 29098, the mice gained significantly less body weight compared to the high-fat diet fed controls and had less hepatic fat accumulation but increased fibrosis [261]. D. piger supplementation caused exacerbated intestinal damage induced by the high-fat diet as measured by villus length, crypt depth, ZO-1 expression and intestinal permeability [261]. Another study on GF mice colonized with a consortium of microbes, including D. piger strain GOR1, demonstrated that a diet with high fat/high sucrose increased levels of D. piger compared to a low fat/high plant polysaccharide diet [212]. D. piger growth was enhanced through trophic interactions with bacteria, such as B. thetaiotaomicron, that released sulfates from host sulfated glycans [212]. On the contrary, another study demonstrated that D. piger abundance increased by supplementation with chondroitin sulfate in mice improved oral glucose tolerance, reduced food consumption and enhanced glucagon-like peptode-1 and insulin secretion [262]. Taken together, these mouse studies remain inconclusive on the effects of intestinal *D. piger*, and this may be due to the use of different strains within the studies.

1.2.7 Next-generation probiotics

As the intestinal microbiota is inextricably linked with host health, developing microbiota-targeted treatments represents an emerging therapeutic strategy for diseases [263, 264]. The advances in metagenomic research have led to the discovery of a wide range of microbes that have the potential to be developed into next-generation probiotics. Traditional probiotics are live strains of well-studied bacteria, including *Lactobacillus* spp. and *Bifidobacterium* spp., that are typically used as supplements for improving digestive health [264]. They come in a variety of forms, including fermented foods, tablets, capsules, liquids, or powders. Whereas nextgeneration probiotics consist of a broader range of microbes that are newly discovered or less common in the literature and are targeted to treat or cure specific health conditions [264]. The ultimate goal of next-generation probiotics is to be able to customize therapy depending on an individual's unique intestinal ecological needs, taking a step towards personalized medicine.

Approximately 70% of species detected in human microbiota metagenomic data remain uncultured, offering vast untapped potential for identifying strains that may benefit human health [265, 266]. The development and research into next-generation probiotics is well underway. For example, supplementation with *Anareobutyricum soehngenii* improved insulin sensitivity in individuals with metabolic syndrome [267]. Another study demonstrated that a probiotic formulation containing inulin, *Akkermansia muciniphila, Clostridium beijerinckii, Clostridium butyricum, Bifidobacterium infantis* and *Anaerobutyricum hallii*, supplemented to individuals diagnosed with type 2 diabetes improved postprandial glucose control [268]. We are at the precipice of a surge of discoveries that have the potential to transform human health through next-generation probiotic supplementation once we overcome key challenges in the field. A few prominent hurdles remain in developing next-generation probiotics. First, most intestinal microbes are specifically adapted to the intestinal environment making them extremely oxygen sensitive. Hence, developing methods to adapt candidate microbes to tolerate oxygen would facilitate the growth of sufficient quantities for large-scale production and distribution of viable next-generation probiotics to treat individuals. Second, the intestinal environment of each individual represents its own unique ecological microcosm with specific requirements for trophic interactions, conditions and energy sources. Hence, pinpointing microbes for nextgeneration probiotics that can successfully benefit the host may necessitate a symbiotic consortium of microbes.

I.2.8 Summary

To summarize, for the advancement in the field of next-generation probiotics, mechanistic insights into the trophic interactions between microbes could facilitate development of an effective probiotic-based formulation. Several metagenomic studies have revealed F. prausnitzii as one of the potential candidates for a next-generation probiotic, as it is regarded as one of the most abundant butyrate-producing intestinal microbes with anti-inflammatory properties. Butyrate-producing bacteria have been found to be reduced in obesity, type 2 diabetes, and atherosclerosis. Thus, an F. prausnitzii based next-generation probiotic could be beneficial to these individuals by modulating intestinal butyrate production. Exploiting the synergy between F. prausnitzii and D. piger, via lactateacetate cross-feeding, may allow for growth and altered intestinal community structure that could benefit the host. Further, this trophic interaction may enable sufficient growth for industrial production for human consumption, which is explored in Paper II. Moreover, we aimed to delineate the strain level differences which could explain discrepancies found in the literature that associate D. piger with disease, investigated in Paper III.

2 Aims

2.1 Paper I

Determine the effect of lipoxins on neutrophils from patients with atherosclerosis

SPMs represent a potential therapeutic strategy utilizing the body's endogenous mechanisms to resolve the chronic inflammatory state of individuals with atherosclerosis. The aim of this project was to assess the effects of lipoxins on neutrophils from patients with atherosclerosis and compare to a control population.

- 1. Determine ROS production capacity of neutrophils at baseline and in response to lipoxin treatment
- 2. Measure the expression of receptors on neutrophils at baseline and when treated with lipoxins
- 3. Quantify neutrophil transmigration across lymphatic vasculature in response to lipoxin treatment

The results of this study demonstrate that lipoxins can have a pro-resolving effect on neutrophils from patients that have diagnosed atherosclerosis. However, we also demonstrate the ability of lipoxins to have opposing effects on neutrophils depending on whether they were from patients with atherosclerosis or controls.

2.2 Paper II

Identify and develop obligate anaerobes into nextgeneration probiotics

With the anaerobic environment of the intestine, the majority of microbes are obligate anaerobes. The aim of this project was to identify potential strains that can be developed into next-generation probiotics for human consumption by increasing oxygen tolerance and biomass of extremely oxygen sensitive microbes.

- 1. Identify strains of *F. prausnitzii* to be developed as nextgeneration probiotics
- 2. Adapt F. prausnitzii to become oxygen tolerant and compare properties of adapted F. prausnitzii to the parent strain
- 3. Determine the cross-feeding mechanism between *F. prausnitzii* and a co-isolated *D. piger* strain
- 4. Assess safety and tolerability in mice and humans of the next-generation probiotic formulation containing the adapted *F. prausnitzii* and *D. piger*

In this study we developed a method for increasing oxygen tolerance of the extremely oxygen sensitive *F. prausnitzii*. Further, we identified trophic interactions between *F. prausnitzii* and *D. piger* which were found to be safe for human consumption.

2.3 Paper III

Demonstrate inter-strain variation in D. piger

Characterization of the complex communities in the intestinal microbiota has often relied on 16S ribosomal RNA (rRNA) gene sequencing. This method does not have sufficient resolution to elucidate variations in the genome or in the functionality of species or strains. Hence, important variations between strains may occur unnoticed. Due to the lack of highresolution data, the role of *D. piger* in disease remains controversial. The aim of this paper was to study *D. piger* inter-strain variation on a phenotypic level.

- 1. Obtain isolates of bacteria genomically related to *D. piger* FI11049 to compare inter-strain variation
- 3. Characterize inter-strain variation in terms of growth, metabolism, stress response, motility and morphology
- 4. Measure the inflammatory modulation capacity of strains on intestinal epithelial cells

The results from this study demonstrated that there are phenotypic variations between strains. Elucidating how these phenotypic differences can translate to effects on intestinal microbiota may provide insight into distinguishing associations of *D. piger* with disease.

3 METHODOLOGICAL CONSIDERATIONS

For a detailed description of methods and patient characteristics please refer to the methods section for each paper.

3.1 Human cohorts

In **Paper I**, an *ex vivo* and *in vitro* approach is used by taking the blood from patients scheduled for vascular surgery for revascularization and from a control group of individuals that were not diagnosed or treated for diabetes, hypertension, or hyperlipidemia. By using patient samples compared to control groups, we were able to identify variations in response of neutrophils. This study was limited in the population size as only ten were enrolled for each group and should thus be considered a pilot study. It is important to have sufficient power in human studies as there is much more heterogeneity compared to research on animal models or *in vitro*.

In **Paper II**, we used a cohort of humans to assess the safety and tolerability of *F. prausnitzji* and *D. piger*. In a randomized placebo-controlled study, a low $(1 \times 10^8-5 \times 10^8 \text{ colony forming units (CFU) per capsule) or high <math>(1 \times 10^9-5 \times 10^9 \text{ CFU} \text{ per capsule})$ dose was given to 50 healthy men and women between the ages of 20-40. A placebo arm was added to control for non-specific effects that may influence the outcome of the study, such as potential side effects. However, as we found that *D. piger* DSM 32187 and the parental *F. prausnitzji* DSM 32186 were highly prevalent in healthy individuals at baseline (43/43 and 35/43, respectively), there was likely a very small risk for healthy individuals.

Regulatory agencies usually require robust safety data from healthy volunteers in phase 1 clinical trials prior to testing in patients. Testing in healthy volunteers reduces effects of confounding variables, such as medications or disease status, and provides insight into safe dosage levels or potential side effects. It allows for the measurement of a "normal" physiological response that would allow for further understanding of potentially "abnormal" reactions in later phases of drug/supplement development when testing on patients. Further, testing in a healthy cohort may provide insights into the mechanisms and potential therapeutic applications.

3.2 Mouse models

Prior to human clinical trials, animal models are used to assess safety of any potential therapeutics. In **Paper II** Swiss Webster mice were used to assess the safety of *F. prausnitzii* DSM 32379 and *D. piger* DSM 32187. In the last century, major strides in biomedical research have been made due to the use of mouse models. Humans and mice share over 90% similarity in their genes, allowing for discovery of genes involved in certain pathways [269]. Mice have a short generation time, are small and easy to handle and maintain, which are all important advantages in using them as models to study disease [269]. Moreover, manipulating microbiota composition or creating gene knockouts permits functional and mechanistic studies in host-symbiont interactions [270].

Despite substantial homology in host genes between mice and humans, there are distinct physiological and genetic differences that limit the use of mice as research models. Numerous therapies that have been proven effective in mouse models of disease ended up failing in humans [269]. In gut microbiota research, mouse models are widely used to disentangle causation and correlation, but it cannot be excluded that bacterial species maybe unable to colonize in mouse models due to host specificity [271].

There are several differences between mice and humans that can affect the microbiome. Most humans have a complete emptying of their gastric contents prior to the next meal, whereas mice eat more consistently with very short time delays between meals, altering transit time [272, 273]. Mice also harbour a distinct bile acid profile compared to humans which can select for microbes [274]. Nutrition, exercise, and environmental exposure all evidently impact the gut microbiota. Even if humans and mice gut communities share 90% phyla and 89% genera [275], there is still colonization resistance of host-specific microbes [276, 277]. Further, there are distinctions in the immune system [269]. Differences in mouse microbiota, diet, environmental exposure, and genes, can limit translational applicability when using these models for probiotic development.

3.3 In vitro cell models

3.3.1 Lymphatic endothelial cells

Lymphatic endothelial cells used in research are isolated from either the skin tissue of adults undergoing panniculectomy or from neonatal foreskins [58]. For **Paper I**, human dermal lymphatic microvascular endothelial cells from skin tissue of adults were used. Adult lymphatic endothelial cells are considered a better model when studying adult immune cell migration since the neonatal immune system is immature [278, 279]. However, the model is limited in that most donors suffer from metabolic disease which can impact lymphatic function [61]. To mimic lymphatic drainage of neutrophils from peripheral tissues, transwells were flipped and the bottom was coated with 0.1% gelatin as a basement membrane prior to adding lymphatic endothelial cells, allowing a monolayer to form after 3 days of growth. Prior to experiments, the transwell was flipped right-side up and the apical well simulates the tissue, and the basal well the lumen. This model is used to study interstitial flow from tissue to the lumen through the lymphatics.

3.3.2 Neutrophils

In **Paper I**, circulating neutrophils were isolated from plasma by using negative bead isolation. Negative bead isolation utilizes antibodies to bind receptors that are expressed on circulating immune cells which are not neutrophils. We optimized negative bead isolation for neutrophils by combining the EasySep Direct Human Neutrophil Isolation Kit (STEMCELL Technologies) with the EasySep Pan-Granulocyte Iso-lation Cocktail (STEMCELL Technologies) to achieve a purer population of neutrophils as characterized by 98-99% of CD45⁺ CD16⁺ CD66b⁺ neutrophils. Positive bead isolation is another method which can be used to obtain a pure population by binding directly to neutrophil receptors. However, positive bead isolation has its limitations when using the cells for downstream experiments as it can result in activation of neutrophils.

3.3.3 Intestinal epithelial cells

To explore the effects of various molecules, whether diet-derived or from drugs, Caco-2 cells are one of the most widely used intestinal models. They are derived from a colon carcinoma and upon confluency, spontaneously differentiate by developing characteristics that mimic absorptive enterocytes [280]. They form tight junctions between adjacent cells, acquire an apical brush border with microvilli, and express enzymatic activities and transporter proteins similar to enterocytes [280]. Caco-2 cells are easy to propagate and maintain. The ease of this cell line combined with its enterocyte-like properties make it the ideal high-throughput model to study transport, drug effects, interactions with the gut microbiota, associated metabolites and bioactive food components. However, its use as a gut epithelial model has several limitations. It lacks a mucus layer, and the intestine contains several cell types. Further, the uptake or transport of substances can be modulated by other molecules in the intestine, such as bile acids and phospholipids, which are missing in this model [280]. Caco-2 cells have been propagated in multiple laboratories across the world resulting in numerous lines, including HTB-37. Additionally, a notable limitation is that these cells were derived from a colon carcinoma originally used to study cancer development [280]. Nevertheless, they are now widely used as human intestinal epithelial cell models [281]. Although they have features that resemble enterocytes, these limitations are important to consider when extrapolating conclusions.

In **Paper II** and **Paper III**, Caco-2 HTB-37 cells are used to explore the inflammatory effects of bacterial spent growth media. Caco-2 HTB37 cells exposed to IL-1 β have a robust pro-inflammatory response. One of the roles of IL-8 is as a chemoattractant for neutrophils, secreted by intestinal epithelial cells in response to inflammation. Thus, measurement of IL-8 secreted from Caco-2 cells in response to stimuli is one readout of inflammatory modulation.

3.4 Flow cytometry

Flow cytometry is a specialized and powerful technique which allows detection and measurement of different chemical and physical properties of cell populations or particles. Characteristics of cells, such as size, granularity, surface/intracellular receptors, gene expression and DNA/RNA content can be measured [282]. Using a microfluidic system, a single cell/particle passes a laser which produces scattered and fluorescent light to a detector. The acquired data gives information on size (forward scatter (FSC)), granularity (side scatter (SSC)) and fluorescence. Cells can be labelled with fluorescent dyes or antibody combinations which can indicate cell type, cell cycle status, expression of proteins or protein post-translational modification [282].

3.4.1 ROS production

In **Paper I**, flow cytometry was used to measure intracellular neutrophil ROS production using a PhagoBurst assay where dihydrorhodamine 123 is oxidized to fluorescent rhodamine 123 by intracellular ROS. From whole blood, the neutrophil populations were gated based on CD16⁺, FSC and SSC. Neutrophils producing ROS were identified, and the amount of ROS produced per cell quantified using the rhodamine 123 fluorochrome (**Paper I**, Supplementary Figure S1A, B).

3.4.2 Integrin expression

In **Paper I**, the baseline circulating neutrophil integrin expression and in response to lipoxin treatment in whole blood were measured using flow cytometry. In addition to the gating strategy for neutrophils outlined above, cells were labelled with antibodies against the LXA₄ receptor, FPR2/ALX, and high affinity CD11b (**Paper I**, Supplementary Figure S1C, D).

3.5 Molecular methods in gut microbiota research

Over the last two decades, research on the intestinal microbiota has undergone remarkable expansion and the gut microbiota is now recognized as our "last organ" [283]. Numerous factors must be taken into consideration when studying the intestinal microbiota and health. To begin with, there is no consensus on what a "healthy" microbiota is, particularly in terms of species/genomic composition. Each individual has unique microbiota that can be equated to a fingerprint that has been shaped by genetics, environmental exposure, diet and lifestyle [284, 285].

3.5.1 Use of faeces

The majority of intestinal microbial communities in humans have been characterized using DNA extracted from faecal samples. While specific microbes exist along the intestinal tract, invasive sampling from different sections of the intestine remains a challenge that may result in the oversight of certain bacteria associated with the mucosa [285, 286]. Thus, when extrapolating conclusions on faecal microbiota composition, we must acknowledge that these samples are not representative for microbes close to the mucosal surface or in the small intestine. In **Paper II**, we identified potential next-generation probiotics isolated from faecal samples, thus, health associations have been made with microbes that were detected.

3.5.2 Isolation of specific bacteria

To isolate specific microbes such as SRB, we used selective media that contains nutrients and metabolites specific for their growth. Postgate's media (PGM) contains a high amount of lactate (as an electron donor) and sulfate (as an electron acceptor) [287]. Further, when sulfate is reduced to hydrogen sulfide, it interacts with the iron in the media forming a dark precipitate of iron sulfides that allows for identification of SRB. In **Paper II** and **Paper III**, SRB were isolated using this technique through a series of subculturing steps. By selecting colonies that turned black, we were able

to select hydrogen sulfide producing bacteria. Potential SRB *D. piger* candidates for **Paper II** were assessed by negative Gram-staining (Figure 6).



Figure 6. Isolation of sulfate-reducing bacteria, Desulfovibrio piger, in Postgate's media (PGM) from faecal samples. Faecal samples were inoculated into PGM broth or agar. They were sub-cultured onto agar plates, and black colonies were selected based on the formation of black iron sulfides which form due to the production of hydrogen sulfide and subsequent reaction with iron in the media. They were sub-cultured until pure colonies were obtained based on gram-staining. Gram-negative isolates were selected for further sequencing to identify D. piger isolates. (Created with Biorender)

3.5.3 Bacterial lab adaptations

When isolating bacteria from faecal samples, it is important to note that the bacteria begin to adapt to laboratory conditions even after overnight growth [288]. Mutations appear that can increase the fitness under the conditions of the media or that are rare in the original stock [288, 289]. Therefore, in **Paper III**, when evaluating *D. piger* characteristics, growth, and metabolism, it is important to consider that it is likely not mimicking what is happening in the intestinal environment.

3.5.4 Characterization of bacteria

There are numerous tools to characterize microbes in vitro. Growth curves provide insight into cell physiology and growth kinetics in different conditions. Growth curves can be determined using optical density (OD), protein concentration, qPCR, or CFU counts. All methods have their benefits and limitations. In Paper II, as CFU counts reflect the viability of microbial cells, this measurement of bacterial cell counts was performed for next-generation probiotic development. To calculate CFU count, serial dilutions of bacterial suspension were streaked on an agar plate and incubated for a specified time (corresponding to the stationary growth, to allow for the detection of the maximum number of viable cells present in the dilution). Colonies were then counted on the plate which grew between 30-300 colonies to calculate CFU/mL [290]. To perform the growth curve in Paper III, protein concentration was measured using a bicinchoninic acid assay. This method allows for the detection of the total microbial biomass produced, independent of cell viability, and it is therefore a sufficient method to estimate growth yields as a function of nutrient sources. For a rapid and simplified measurement to assess D. piger growth in different conditions after 24 hours, OD measurements were performed. OD measures the turbidity of the solution which can depend on multiple factors, including cell size, number of cells, metabolites produced and length of the light path [291]. In Paper III, an aliquot of bacterial suspension was put into a microtiter plate and read on a spectrophotometer at a wavelength of OD 620 nm.

In **Paper III**, we used analytical profile index (API) kits to investigate microbial metabolism of different substrates. Traditionally, API kits were

created for identification of medically relevant bacteria, so they are only capable of distinguishing known species. The kits contain dehydrated substrates to assess enzymatic activity. Bacteria are suspended in a specialized media and left for a set number of hours before observing changes in colour, either spontaneously, or after adding revealing agents. If the wells change colour to that described in the manual of the kit, this can indicate enzymatic activity for the specific substrate.

In **Paper III**, we also explored the ability of *D. piger* to use different electron acceptors or electron donors *in vitro*. We either replaced the lactate or the sulfate in PGM to see if *D. piger* could still grow after 24 hours. It is important to note that this only demonstrates the ability of *D. piger* to utilize different electron donors or acceptors under the specific conditions in PGM for a limited time. It is possible that *D. piger* has the ability to use different sources of electrons or to donate electrons to other sources, but it may take more time or additional co-factors.

3.5.5 Genomic analyses

In **Paper III**, we explored the role of inter-strain variation in *D. piger*. A strain is defined as a "set of genetically similar descendants of a single colony or cell" and a clade is defined as a "group of taxonomic entities composed of one ancestor and all of its evolutionary descendants" [239]. In Paper III we sought to isolate a strain of D. piger that clusters in the same clade as the previously sequenced genome of the strain FI11049 to compare it with the *D. piger* strain DSM 32187 from **Paper II** and the type strain, DSM 749. DNA was extracted from D. piger strains, MTK1492.2 and DSM 749, which had not been sequenced previously, to try to generate a complete genome. It remains a challenge to get sufficient good quality DNA from D. piger. We were able to obtain sufficient high-quality DNA to sequence both long and short reads for D. piger DSM 32187 in Paper II. However, when repeating this for DSM 749 and MTK1492.2, we were unsuccessful at the given time. Thus, in Paper III, in silico analysis to create a phylogenetic tree to group D. piger strains into different clades was performed on the draft genomes. The draft genomes were assembled based on overlapping areas of the short reads, forming what is known as contigs. Contigs may not overlap, resulting in gaps in the genome where there is no nucleotide information. Combining long reads and short reads can allow

for the formation of a complete genome as the long reads can bridge the gaps between the contigs. Draft genomes can result in a loss of genetic information, high rates of error, potential contaminants, and a decreased ability to distinguish additional plasmids [292]. Metagenome-assembled genomes (MAGs) are generated through a computational process that assembles microbial genomes from metagenome data. MAGs are a useful tool to have an overview of the metabolic potential of the intestinal microbiota, however, when zooming in to investigate inter-strain variation, they are insufficient due to the possible loss of genetic information. However, culturing and isolating individual strains allows us to generate complete genomes. In **Paper III** we isolated the *D. piger* strain MTK1492.2 and sequenced it along with DSM 749. We will be generating complete genomes of these two isolates to perform downstream analyses to compare genomic inter-strain variation.

4 RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

4.1 Paper I

4.1.1 ROS production in neutrophils

Intermittent regulated bouts of neutrophil ROS production play an essential role in the innate immune response [29]. Activated neutrophils in circulation migrate across the endothelium to the site of inflammation in response to chemoattractants, where they engulf pathogens into a vacuole. Intracellular ROS is produced to kill the trapped pathogens inside the vacuole. This respiratory burst is regulated by NADPH oxidase [22]. Upon activation, the separated transmembrane proteins and soluble proteins making up NADPH oxidase assemble to become activated. However, continuous activation can be detrimental to the surrounding healthy tissues and result in a chronic low-grade inflammation.

We demonstrated that neutrophils derived from the circulation of patients with diagnosed atherosclerosis have a higher baseline production per cell of ROS. In addition, in response to the inflammatory stimuli, fMLP or E. coli, the percentage of neutrophils producing ROS was higher from patients with atherosclerosis compared to controls. The amount of ROS produced per cell was also higher in neutrophils from patients with atherosclerosis upon fMLP stimulation. Upon exposure to PMA, the neutrophils from both groups produced the maximum amount of ROS, as expected. In healthy individuals, circulating neutrophils in a resting state maintain a separation between the NADPH oxidase proteins, as described above. Certain stimuli, such as pro-inflammatory cytokines, like TNF-α, fMLP or GM-CSF, can result in 'priming' of neutrophils where they do not necessarily induce activation but result in assembly of NADPH oxidase. This prepares the neutrophils for a more rapid ROS production response [22]. Thus, increased ROS production at baseline and in response to fMLP and E. coli stimuli in patients with atherosclerosis indicates previous priming of circulating neutrophils. Increased circulatory levels of the inflammatory marker CRP in patients with atherosclerosis further validates

that neutrophils from these individuals were surrounded by an inflammatory environment in the circulation leading to neutrophil priming.

The known LXA₄ receptor, FPR2/ALX, also binds fMLP and depending on the ligand can induce a pro-inflammatory or pro-resolving response [293, 294]. We demonstrated that the percentage of neutrophils expressing FPR2/ALX decreased in both patient and controls in response to fMLP stimulation, however, the amount expressed per cell did not differ. FPR2/ALX expressed on neutrophils can recognize fMLP and result in activation or priming [295]. CD11b is constitutively expressed on all neutrophils. Upon activation in response to fMLP treatment, CD11b expression increased on neutrophils from both controls and patients with atherosclerosis, similar to what has previously been shown [296]. Increased CD11b expression on activated neutrophils enhances their ability to adhere to the vascular endothelium [296].

In patients with atherosclerosis, lymphatic clearance is impacted [60]. Both neutrophils isolated from the blood of patients or controls transmigrated across an *in vitro* monolayer of lymphatic endothelial cells towards IL-8. To summarize, neutrophils from patients with atherosclerosis are more primed to produce ROS as compared to controls, however, their receptor expression of CD11b and FPR2/ALX, and their ability to migrate across lymphatic endothelial cells does not differ at baseline.

4.1.2 Lipoxin effects on neutrophils

Treating whole blood from patients with atherosclerosis with LXA₄ or LXB₄ reduced the number of ROS-producing neutrophils and the amount of ROS produced per cell in response to subsequent stimuli with fMLP. In contrast, treating whole blood from healthy controls with LXA₄ increased *E. coli*-induced ROS production per cell, while LXB₄ increased the number of ROS producing neutrophils and the amount of ROS produced per cell in response to both fMLP and *E. coli*. This indicates that lipoxins may prime neutrophils from healthy controls to produce ROS, while having a pro-resolving effect on neutrophils from patients with atherosclerosis. Lipoxin treatment did not impact the expression of FPR2/ALX. However, lipoxin treatment downregulated the amount of CD11b high affinity conformation expression per neutrophil from patients with

atherosclerosis. This emphasizes the pro-resolving capabilities of lipoxins in neutrophils from patients with atherosclerosis as CD11b mediates platelet-leukocyte aggregation and transendothelial migration [98]. Upon treatment with LXB₄, neutrophils from patients with atherosclerosis transmigrated at a higher rate across lymphatic endothelial cells. This further demonstrates that LXB₄ has pro-resolving potential, but only in neutrophils from patients with atherosclerosis. These findings highlight the importance of considering treatment options for patients depending on their inflammatory status.

4.2 Paper II

4.2.1 Identification of bacterial trophic interactions

We demonstrated that trophic microbial interactions can be important for the development of next-generation probiotics. By plating faecal samples from a healthy individual directly onto PGM selective media, we found that a strain of *F. prausnitzii*, DSM 32186, was able to grow as a co-culture with a strain of *D. piger*, DSM 32187. Had the faecal samples been inoculated into selective liquid broth media and diluted as normal praxis, detection of this potential symbiotic relationship might not have been possible given the difficulty in discerning the interaction between two colonies in liquid, potentially leading to oversight. Further, it is likely that individual *F. prausnitzii* cells would not have been able to grow in this broth medium due to the absence of glucose and other nutrients required by this species.

The complete genomes of F. prausnitzii DSM 32186 and D. piger DSM 32187 were sequenced. D. piger DSM 32187 clustered with previously sequenced D. piger strains, and F. prausnitzii DSM 32186 clustered with F. prausnitzii phylogroup II. As both genomes formed their own clades in the tree, we hypothesized that they represent previously uncharacterized strains. By adding glucose to PGM, we demonstrated that F. prausnitzii DSM 32186 grew significantly more when in co-culture with D. piger than alone. Further, after 24 hours, SCFAs were measured in the mono- and cocultures. In mono-culture, there was little metabolic activity of F. prausnitzii. D. piger consumed lactate and produced acetate. However, when the two were in the co-culture, a significant amount of butyrate and lactate was produced. This represents a cross-feeding mechanism whereby D. piger consumes lactate (from the media and F. prausnitzii) to produce acetate, without consuming glucose, and F. prausnitzii uses glucose in the media and the D. piger produced-acetate to produce lactate and butyrate. In the symbiotic relationship, D. piger acts as an electron sink by consuming lactate to yield acetate for butyrate production by F. prausnitzii.

4.2.2 Adapting bacteria to become oxygen tolerant

Two major hurdles in next-generation probiotic research are to be able to adapt intestinal microbes to tolerate oxygen along with ensuring sufficient biomass to be able to develop a product to be given to humans [264]. We developed a method to adapt the extremely oxygen sensitive *F. prausnitzii* to tolerate oxygen. We gradually exposed *F. prausnitzii* DSM 32186 to oxidizing conditions that permitted adaptation to develop oxygen tolerance. The adapted strain, DSM 32379, was isolated after 10 generations. DSM 32379 still produced butyrate and had synergistic growth with *D. piger* DSM 32187, which was already oxygen tolerant. The adapted *F. prausnitzii* DSM 32379 also maintained anti-inflammatory effects. This was assessed by the reduction of IL-8 secretion from IL-1 β -stimulated Caco-2 cells due to protection from the spent media of *F. prausnitzii* strains.

The oxygen tolerant strain retained ant-inflammatory properties, and we were able to demonstrate that it could yield sufficient biomass in co-culture with DSM 32187, adequate for production of formulations for human consumption. Further, based on stability criteria, we demonstrated that freeze-dried DSM 32379 could be stored at -20 °C for 2 weeks. Thus, *D. piger* DSM 32187 and *F. prausnitzii* DSM 32379 could be suitable as a next-generation probiotic for human consumption.

4.2.3 Next-generation probiotic formulation safety

Safety studies in mice and humans were performed. Bacterial suspensions of *F. prausnitzii* DSM 32379 and *D. piger* DSM 32187 were gavage-fed to Swiss Webster mice 5 times during the first week, and twice a week for the following 3 weeks and were well tolerated. There was no change in the caecal levels of either strain as quantified by qPCR. This may be due to the mode and frequency of administration, human host-specificity of the strains, colonization resistance from the mouse microbiota, as well as colonization in other parts of the gastrointestinal tract.

The bacteria capsules of low $(1 \times 10^8-5 \times 10^8 \text{ CFU} \text{ per capsule})$ and high dose $(1 \times 10^9-5 \times 10^9 \text{ CFU} \text{ per capsule})$ were well tolerated when administered to a group of healthy men and women aged between 20 and 40 years in a randomized placebo-controlled study for 8 weeks. There were no changes in the blood biochemistry, faecal SCFAs or hydrogen sulfide from

baseline to 8 weeks after administration in either group. Whole-genome metagenomic sequencing revealed no differences between groups or within each group in overall composition between the baseline or after administration However, the group receiving the high dose had increased reads for D. piger at the species level after 8 weeks, while the F. prausnitzii levels remained unchanged. This may be because the parental strain, DSM 32186, of the oxygen-tolerant F. prausnitzii, DSM 32379 strain, was already present in all participants at baseline (43/43), saturating the niche. The percent abundance of F. prausnitzii was between 3.4% and 25.9%, which is within the range that has been previously found in healthy cohorts. Using genome capture to quantify the specific strain D. piger DSM 32187, we found that it was increased in the high-dose group, with a noticeable increase in individuals with a low baseline relative abundance, indicating that the niche may not have been saturated. Terminal genes for butyrate production were significantly positively correlated with the increase in D. piger DSM 32187 after 8 weeks. This suggests that D. piger DSM 32187 may support overall butyrate production of the human gut microbiota.

4.3 Paper III

We isolated a D. *piger* strain in **Paper II** that had promoted the growth and butyrate production of *F. prausnitzii*. In the literature, reports on *D. piger* have opposing findings for associations with health parameters [260, 266] or disease [211, 218, 259, 297]. Thus, we hypothesized that the discrepancies may be due to a lack of resolution in metagenomics analyses, and that inter-strain variation may explain differences in the associations.

4.3.1 Isolation of D. piger strains

Previous reports on *D. piger* have been represented in metagenomic studies largely by the complete genome of FI11049, isolated from a patient with colitis [211]. As this strain was not available, we sought to isolate it from human faecal samples. We isolated *D. piger* strain MTK1492.2 using modified PGM containing peptone. Phylogenetic analyses of the draft genomes demonstrated that MTK1492.2 clustered with FI11049, separately from the *D. piger* strain from **Paper II**, DSM 32187 and the type strain DSM 749. Although these analyses were performed on draft genomes, to confirm these findings, closed genomes will be necessary.

4.3.2 Phenotypic characteristics of D. piger strains

Phenotypic characteristics of MTK1492.2 and DSM 32187 were compared to the type strain DSM 749 to explore inter-strain variation. Grown anaerobically in PGM, MTK1492.2 grew slower than the other two strains, while DSM 32187 converted lactate to acetate the fastest. Motility also differed between the strains, as all three could swim, however, only MTK1492.2 could not swarm. All three strains had the ability to use thiosulfate, but not nitrate or sulfite, as an electron acceptor, instead of sulfate. Further, they could also use pyruvate as an electron donor. DSM 749 and MTK1492.2 could grow in 1% NaCl, but DSM 32187 could not. The variations between the strains may provide insight into the contradicting associations of *D. piger* prevalence in different populations.

4.3.3 Anti-inflammatory effect of D. piger strains

Studies have found increased *D. piger* prevalence in individuals with IBD compared to healthy controls [218, 298]. Interestingly, we demonstrated

that the spent media from *D. piger* strains did not induce an inflammatory response as measured by IL-8 secretion from the intestinal epithelial cell model, Caco-2. On the contrary, treatment with IL-1 β induced IL-8 secretion from Caco-2 cells and *D. piger* spent media diluted 1:4 and 1:10, but not 1:100, reduced IL-8 secretion in this experimental setup. In four independent experiments, we found that when the spent media was diluted 1:4 or 1:10, DSM 32187 and DSM 749 lowered the IL-8 secretion more than MTK1492.2. Further, we also demonstrated that this was not due to the cells dying in response to the *D. piger* spent media. The anti-inflammatory effect may be due to the presence of hydrogen sulfide as previous research has demonstrated its ability to reduce inflammatory response [182].

Taken together, these findings demonstrate that there are inter-strain variations in phenotypic characteristics and potentially the antiinflammatory properties within the *D. piger* species. However, biological triplicates will be performed to statistically validate the potential antiinflammatory differences we observed.
5 CONCLUSION

- When developing therapeutic strategies with SPMs, special caution should be taken to evaluate the inflammatory status of the patient receiving treatment. Lipoxin treatment had opposing effects on neutrophils depending on whether they were isolated from a healthy control or a patient diagnosed with atherosclerosis.
- For the development of next-generation probiotics, trophic cross-feeding interactions can be considered for achieving cost-effective production for human consumption. Further, oxygen tolerance can be acquired by extremely oxygen sensitive bacteria that allows for easier production and longer shelf life. Further, the oxygen adapted strain of *F. prausnitzii* retains its beneficial anti-inflammatory properties.
- When evaluating associations of a particular species with disease, it is essential to look at differences within the strains. While this is well known for classical probiotics (e.g., *Lactobacillus* and *Bifidobacterium* strains), less attention to strain heterogeneity has been given for potential next-generation probiotic candidates, likely due to the more recent characterizations. Phenotypic analyses of *D. piger* demonstrated inter-strain variation that provides insight into the potential rational for the contradictory associations of *D. piger* with disease in the literature.

6 LIMITATIONS AND FUTURE PERSPECTIVES

Intermittent, controlled bouts of inflammation in response to injury and infections are essential for our survival. However, as modern-day lifestyle factors continue to promote a chronic state of systemic inflammation, the rise of non-communicable diseases is a significant burden, and our "healthcare" system is turning into a "disease-care" system. Thus, understanding pathways to promote resolution and/or restoring intestinal gut microbes with immunomodulating properties was the aim of this thesis.

Promoting inflammatory resolution in individuals with atherosclerosis represents a promising therapeutic strategy to break the vicious loop of inflammation. **Paper I** sets the foundation to explore the role of lipoxins in modulating neutrophils from patients with atherosclerosis. One of the major limitations of this study was the sample size. Future studies would benefit from increased participants as well as a balance in males and females. To increase robustness, it would also be beneficial to have agematched controls to account for the possibility of "inflammaging" [299]. Further, elucidating the mechanisms by which lipoxins modulate neutrophil ROS production, integrin expression and lymphatic migration could identify novel potential pathways for additional drug targets to promote resolution. Characterizing neutrophils from lipoxin treated or omega-6 supplemented mouse models of atherosclerosis, such as Apo -/-[300], could be the next step to validate our *in vitro* findings *in vivo*.

Interestingly, in **Paper I**, we demonstrated that LXB_4 can enhance neutrophil ROS production from "healthy" controls. To our knowledge, lipoxins, particularly LXB₄, have not been shown to enhance inflammation by priming neutrophils to produce ROS. Identifying the mechanism by which LXB_4 can prime neutrophils would provide more insight into understanding the fine-tuned balance of lipid-class switching and the role of this SPM. Regardless of FPR2/ALX expression, lipoxins were able to decrease ROS production, indicating that there are other receptors by which they may be acting. Future studies on identifying additional lipoxin receptors and their downstream pathways are of great interest.

As lymphatic dysregulation plays a key role in atherosclerosis, identifying the mechanism by which LXB₄ can enhance migration of neutrophils would also be of interest. To explore whether enhanced migration is due to the ability of LXB₄ treatment to downregulate CD11b, making the neutrophils less "sticky", one could pre-treat the neutrophils, then wash and subsequently add to the transwell to measure migration. CD11b antibodies could also be used to try to block the binding capacity to the lymphatic endothelium. These experiments would determine if the reason for enhanced lymphatic migration upon LXB₄ treatment is due to downregulation of CD11b expression.

When looking to develop new therapies for treating the ever-increasing number of chronic inflammatory diseases, utilizing the body's endogenous mechanisms for resolving inflammation is another approach by which we can tackle the chronic inflammatory loop.

In **Paper II**, we were able to adapt *F. prausnitzii* to become oxygen-tolerant, but we were unable to describe the molecular mechanism responsible for the development of oxygen tolerance. Future studies could use genome-wide transposon mutagenesis known as INsertion Sequencing (INSeq) to potentially identify the mechanism [301]. If the mechanism was identified, the snippet of the genome could be introduced to other extremely oxygen sensitive strains to allow them to be developed into oxygen-tolerant next-generation probiotics.

In **Paper II**, *D. piger* and *F. prausnitzji* supplementation did not alter the microbiome, SCFAs, hydrogen sulfide or levels of *F. prausnitzji* in healthy individuals, likely due to the participants being healthy volunteers with, what we would expect, a stable and resilient microbiota. Thus, exploring whether supplementation could impact the microbiota of individuals with low levels of *F. prausnitzji*, such as individuals with prediabetes, diabetes, other metabolic and/or inflammatory diseases such as atherosclerosis, would be the next step. In addition, it would be of interest to understand the impact of *F. prausnitzji* or *D. piger* on the microbiota and intestinal inflammation.

To properly illustrate inter-strain variation in Paper III, the genome of MTK1492.2 and DSM 749 must be completed with long reads. To make the phylogenetic trees, the MASH method used relies on first filtering genomes based on similarity of 16S rRNA gene reference strains and then the next step relies on having a database of genomes. By using MASH on draft genomes, 16S rRNA gene-based reference strains can give inaccurate distances as it does not capture the full genomic diversity. In addition, if a strain or species is not represented in the database, this may lead to inaccurate results. Further, the Genome BLAST Distance Phylogeny algorithm and the distances based on the bitscore depend on the quality of the input sequences and selected reference genomes. The accuracy of the results may be impacted by variations in sequencing or assembly. For future endeavours, high quality closed genomes are necessary to compare inter-strain variation. Further, tools that compare cluster of orthologous genes, average nucleotide identity and KEGG (Kyoto Encyclopedia of Genes and Genomes) pathway analyses on the complete genomes would provide further insight inter-strain variation.

To build upon Paper III, additional experiments are needed to investigate the competition between strains. Bioreactors of faecal slurries could be setup and inoculated with two strains of D. piger to determine which will outcompete the other depending on the growth substrates, salinity and/or growth media that resembles different diets. Further, to understand the mechanism of the IL-8 attenuating effect of D. piger spent media on Caco-2 cells, numerous experiments should be performed to determine if there is a specific molecule or metabolite that modulates the anti-inflammatory response. For example, future experiments could measure the effect of proteins, lipids, outer membrane vesicles, and hydrogen sulfide produced by D. piger on the immunomodulation of Caco-2 cells. In addition, heatkilled D. piger could be added to the Caco-2 cells to determine if the bacteria itself has any impact on inflammation. We could also explore the prevalence of different strains in human populations though age, geography and lifestyle. This could allow us to determine the effects of diet or environment on the intestinal environment that could create a niche for different D. piger isolates.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

The following acknowledgements are going to sound like I won the Nobel Prize, I didn't, but I also didn't know how to dial down the gratefulness I have felt throughout my PhD experience. I would genuinely like to thank everyone who has been there and guided me throughout this journey. I am so grateful for the interactions, scientific discussions, moments of joy and pure laughter I have had throughout these years. I have learned more than I could have ever imagined, not only about science, but about life too. Thank you all for shaping the way I think and ask questions while pursing my curiosities.

To my main supervisor, **Robert**. With your encouragement, guidance and support throughout, I was able to have a phenomenal PhD experience. Thank you for keeping me on track, guiding me through the sticky patches and being so patient with my steep learning curve and incessant time optimism. I really appreciate that you trusted me, gave me the freedom to pursue ideas and inspired me to keep trying. Thank you for the incredible opportunity to learn from you and for helping me to grow as a scientist.

To my co-supervisors, **Fredrik**, **Valentina**, and **Tanweer** thank you for your unwavering support, advice, and your gifted minds. I feel very fortunate to have been surrounded by such generous experts that have ignited a flame within me, making me fall in love with microbiology. During our scientific discussions, I always found myself captivated and your mentorship has been instrumental in broadening my scientific understanding and refining my critical thinking. Thank you so much for sharing your knowledge, experiences and providing me with an entire new skillset.

To the entire **Bäckhed group**, thank you for welcoming me with open arms into a truly inspiring environment. I have learned more than I could have imagined from all of you, all while having too much fun and making memories that I will never forget, from cold dips to obstacle course races to afterworks and delicious foods from all over the world. **Gaohua**, **Katharina**, **Marc**, **Lei**, **Hobby**, **Chiara**, **Chinmay**, **Lisa** and **Rima**, thank you all for sharing your brilliant minds, entertaining my crazy ideas, and

guiding me through both scientific discourse and experiments. Manuela, Annika L and Charlotta, you make organization look easy. Thank you for your guidance and support for every question I had. Anna, Thomas, Louise O, Alba, Edu, Antonio and Louise M, thank you for being so welcoming and sharing your knowledge and experiences that have helped to guide me. Annika F, Mona, Sophie and Johanna, you are such wonderful humans that I have fun with in all of our interactions and discussions about science and life. Wilhelm, thanks for being a great office buddy, all the poop talk and for being there through the trenches of thesis writing leading the way to every deadline. Kassem, I cannot thank you enough for your remarkable mind that I had the great honour to learn from. Your advice has helped guide my projects forward and train my brain to think differently. Christina, you welcomed me into the Wlab world from the moment we played football together and brought me into the PhD circle. I could not be more grateful for your support and sincerely welcoming personality. It led me to this invaluable PhD experience and to gain amazing friends like Matthias, who I would also like to thank for being there throughout and for all the times entertaining my productive procrastination. And Matias² for the banter and scientific discussions always ending up in laughter.

To the spectacular **Wlab** life. Thank you to everyone who put up with my Canadian small talk, you brightened my world. **Magnus**, you have been a ray of sunshine every single day of my time at Wlab. I am grateful for our awe-inspiring conversations that always left me with something to think about and more questions to look up. **Mikael**, **Marion**, **Wagner**, **Liliana**, **Rosie**, **Kavi**, **May**, **Svenne**, **Pelle**, **Barbara**, **Eva** and **Linda**, it was always a pleasure running into you in the halls or with our office discussions.

To the **Börgeson lab**, I would like to thank you for all of the training, the way of thinking and organizational skills you taught me. **Emma** and **Stephan**, thank you for brining me to Sweden, you taught me how to approach ideas from all sides with rigor and great attention to detail. **Meenu** and **Matus**, thank you so much for being great teachers and your support throughout. **Catherine**, **Alankrita** and **David**, thank you for the early morning fun banter, support, experiences, and laughter we shared.

To my academic father, **Illimar**, thank you for being the best first experience of research I could have imagined. Your belief in me taught me to go after the goal. You involved me in all aspects of science, from writing to tinkering in the lab to taking advantage of every opportunity and traveling to conferences around the world. Your rigorous attention to detail combined with your carefree and inspiring attitude made me realize that science and an academic career can be whatever you make of it. You taught me to never stop learning, to soar like an eagle (even if I am surrounded by turkeys) and what science is all about, the relationships made along the way.

To Karo, Carmen, Carlos, Angela, Yordan, Alina, Saurabh, Justina and Phil, thank you for all of the outside of lab-life fun and your support through the tough times. I have always enjoyed our afterworks, dinners, and active shenaningans filled with laughter.

To my Geneva sisters, **Divs**, **Flo**, **Steph**, **Naz** and **Tati**, thank you for always being there (literally) whenever I needed and when I didn't. I appreciate your love, support and the fact that you make me feel like I am a pretty normal human.

To my O-town girls, **Row**, **Philly**, **Melussa** (not a typo), **Kenny**, **Emma**, **Yo**, and **Brittany** thank you for your undying support, and patience, even when I was (sometimes) too occupied with my PhD. You are beautiful humans who instantly feel like home, even after years of being apart.

To my friends who became family, Lovisa, Myles, Tom, Jörn, Jonatan, Cris, Phil, Tiffany, Dance, Moa, Johannes, Sam and Yang, thank you for being the best, craziest, most eccentric, supportive group of friends I could ever ask for. You have been there for me through the good and the bad of this PhD process, all while being my cheerleaders the entire way. I am so incredibly grateful to have a family filled with energizing, encouraging and motivating humans who all light up a room. Thank you for making Gothenburg my home.

To **Nals** and **Myrty**, thanks for being a source of true joy and my safe haven from the stressful times throughout my PhD.

To my family, thank you for providing me with a life filled with unbelievable experiences from a young age that allowed me to pursue and complete a PhD. You have been there and encouraging me every single step of the way for the past 30 years. You taught me to take advantage of every opportunity and to learn from experience. Your belief in my abilities convinced me that I had the tools to overcome obstacles along the way. Thank you for all of your unconditional support for my escapades or whenever I had a crazy idea, like to move to Sweden. Dad, you always fostered my curiosity by entertaining my continuous questioning about the world. You taught me not to take things at face value, to question everything and the spirit of perseverance, "If you're not falling, you're not trying hard enough." You inspired me to always be grateful for the aweinspiring and even the not-so-great moments in life because it all ends up working out. Mom, thank you for literally always being there, the checkins and listening to all of my problems whenever I needed advice. You taught me to not take life too seriously, to live in the moment, and the time to be happy is in the now. Thank you for reading, editing and providing feedback to all of my scientific writing, even if you didn't understand the majority of it. Your continued support at every single one of my life decisions has led me to completing a PhD. Ry, thank you for your support and encouragement throughout. Your enthusiasm every time we talk exuded through the phone and inspired me to always keep going, that I was doing cool shit (literally). Thank you for putting up with my weird conversations about poo, being my cheerleader and inspiring me to step up to every challenge.

To **Zaida**, there are no words to describe how grateful I am to have had such a marvelous grandfather who inspired and supported me during this PhD. Your support, work ethic, self-deprecating humour, and joy for life taught me to face every challenge head on and to love every moment of this wild ride.

REFERENCES

- El Albani A, Mangano MG, Buatois LA, Bengtson S, Riboulleau A, Bekker A, Konhauser K, Lyons T, Rollion-Bard C, Bankole O, Lekele Baghekema SG, Meunier A, Trentesaux A, Mazurier A, Aubineau J, Laforest C, Fontaine C, Recourt P, Chi Fru E, Macchiarelli R, Reynaud JY, Gauthier-Lafaye F, Canfield DE: Organism motility in an oxygenated shallow-marine environment 2.1 billion years ago. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 2019, 116(9):3431-3436.
- 2. Sebé-Pedrós A, Degnan BM, Ruiz-Trillo I: The origin of Metazoa: A unicellular perspective. *Nature Reviews Genetics* 2017, **18**(8):498-512.
- 3. Colizzi ES, Vroomans RM, Merks RM: Evolution of multicellularity by collective integration of spatial information. *Elife* 2020, 9.
- 4. Lynch SV, Pedersen O: The human intestinal microbiome in health and disease. *New England Journal of Medicine* 2016, **375**(24):2369-2379.
- Marshall JS, Warrington R, Watson W, Kim HL: An introduction to immunology and immunopathology. *Allergy, Asthma & Clinical Immunology* 2018, 14(Suppl 2):49.
- Furman D, Campisi J, Verdin E, Carrera-Bastos P, Targ S, Franceschi C, Ferrucci L, Gilroy DW, Fasano A, Miller GW, Miller AH, Mantovani A, Weyand CM, Barzilai N, Goronzy JJ, Rando TA, Effros RB, Lucia A, Kleinstreuer N, Slavich GM: Chronic inflammation in the etiology of disease across the life span. *Nature Medicine* 2019, 25(12):1822-1832.
- Chen L, Deng H, Cui H, Fang J, Zuo Z, Deng J, Li Y, Wang X, Zhao L: Inflammatory responses and inflammation-associated diseases in organs. Oncotarget 2017, 9(6):7204-7218.
- 8. Sugimoto MA, Sousa LP, Pinho V, Perretti M, Teixeira MM: Resolution of inflammation: What controls its onset? *Frontiers in Immunology* 2016, 7:160.
- 9. Herrero-Cervera A, Soehnlein O, Kenne E: Neutrophils in chronic inflammatory diseases. *Cellular & Molecular Immunology* 2022, **19**(2):177-191.
- 10. Netea MG, Domínguez-Andrés J, Barreiro LB, Chavakis T, Divangahi M, Fuchs E, Joosten LAB, van der Meer JWM, Mhlanga MM, Mulder WJM, Riksen NP, Schlitzer A, Schultze JL, Stabell Benn C, Sun JC, Xavier RJ, Latz E: **Defining trained immunity and its role in health and disease**. *Nature Reviews Immunology* 2020, **20**(6):375-388.
- 11. Donald K, Finlay BB: Early-life interactions between the microbiota and immune system: Impact on immune system development and atopic disease. *Nature Reviews Immunology* 2023, 23:735–748
- Gomez de Agüero M, Ganal-Vonarburg SC, Fuhrer T, Rupp S, Uchimura Y, Li H, Steinert A, Heikenwalder M, Hapfelmeier S, Sauer U, McCoy KD, Macpherson AJ: The maternal microbiota drives early postnatal innate immune development. *Science* 2016, 351(6279):1296-1302.
- 13. Hornef MW, Normark BH, Vandewalle A, Normark S: Intracellular recognition of lipopolysaccharide by toll-like receptor 4 in intestinal epithelial cells. *Journal of Experimental Medicine* 2003, **198**(8):1225-1235.
- Simon AK, Hollander GA, McMichael A: Evolution of the immune system in humans from infancy to old age. Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences 2015, 282(1821):20143085.
- 15. Lawrence T: The nuclear factor NF-kappaB pathway in inflammation. *Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Biology* 2009, 1(6):a001651.

- 16. Rosales C: Neutrophil: A cell with many roles in inflammation or several cell types? *Frontiers in Physiology* 2018, **9**:113.
- 17. Peiseler M, Kubes P: More friend than foe: The emerging role of neutrophils in tissue repair. *Journal of Clinical Investigation* 2019, **129**(7):2629-2639.
- Adrover JM, Nicolás-Ávila JA, Hidalgo A: Aging: A temporal dimension for neutrophils. Trends in Immunology 2016, 37(5):334-345.
- Silvestre-Roig C, Braster Q, Ortega-Gomez A, Soehnlein O: Neutrophils as regulators of cardiovascular inflammation. *Nature Reviews Cardiology* 2020, 17(6):327-340.
- 20. Fine N, Tasevski N, McCulloch CA, Tenenbaum HC, Glogauer M: The neutrophil: Constant defender and first responder. *Frontiers in Immunology* 2020, 11:571085.
- 21. Fine N, Barzilay O, Sun C, Wellappuli N, Tanwir F, Chadwick JW, Oveisi M, Tasevski N, Prescott D, Gargan M, Philpott DJ, Dror Y, Glogauer M: **Primed PMNs in healthy mouse and human circulation are first responders during acute inflammation**. *Blood Advances* 2019, **3**(10):1622-1637.
- 22. El-Benna J, Hurtado-Nedelec M, Marzaioli V, Marie JC, Gougerot-Pocidalo MA, Dang PM: Priming of the neutrophil respiratory burst: Role in host defense and inflammation. *Immunological Reviews* 2016, **273**(1):180-193.
- 23. Chadwick VS, Mellor DM, Myers DB, Selden AC, Keshavarzian A, Broom MF, Hobson CH: Production of peptides inducing chemotaxis and lysosomal enzyme release in human neutrophils by intestinal bacteria in vitro and in vivo. *Scandinavian Journal of Gastroenterology* 1988, **23**(1):121-128.
- 24. Zhang Q, Raoof M, Chen Y, Sumi Y, Sursal T, Junger W, Brohi K, Itagaki K, Hauser CJ: Circulating mitochondrial DAMPs cause inflammatory responses to injury. *Nature* 2010, **464**(7285):104-107.
- 25. Li L, Chen K, Xiang Y, Yoshimura T, Su S, Zhu J, Bian XW, Wang JM: New development in studies of formyl-peptide receptors: Critical roles in host defense. *Journal of Leukocyte Biology* 2016, **99**(3):425-435.
- 26. Schiffmann E, Corcoran BA, Wahl SM: N-formylmethionyl peptides as chemoattractants for leucocytes. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 1975, 72(3):1059-1062.
- 27. Lämmermann T: In the eye of the neutrophil swarm-navigation signals that bring neutrophils together in inflamed and infected tissues. *Journal of Leukocyte Biology* 2016, **100**(1):55-63.
- 28. Nguyen GT, Green ER, Mecsas J: Neutrophils to the ROScue: Mechanisms of NADPH oxidase activation and bacterial resistance. Frontiers in Cellular and Infection Microbiology 2017, 7(373).
- 29. Winterbourn CC, Kettle AJ, Hampton MB: Reactive oxygen species and neutrophil function. *Annual Review of Biochemistry* 2016, **85**:765-792.
- 30. Serhan CN: Discovery of specialized pro-resolving mediators marks the dawn of resolution physiology and pharmacology. *Molecular Aspects of Medicine* 2017, 58:1-11.
- 31. Serhan CN, Chiang N, Dalli J, Levy BD: Lipid mediators in the resolution of inflammation. *Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Biology* 2014, 7(2):a016311-a016311.
- 32. Schett G, Neurath MF: Resolution of chronic inflammatory disease: Universal and tissue-specific concepts. *Nature Communications* 2018, 9(1):3261.
- 33. Fullerton JN, Gilroy DW: Resolution of inflammation: A new therapeutic frontier. *Nature Reviews Cardiology* 2016, **15**(8):551-567.

- 34. Headland SE, Norling LV: The resolution of inflammation: Principles and challenges. *Seminars in Immunology* 2015, **27**(3):149-160.
- 35. Basil MC, Levy BD: Specialized pro-resolving mediators: Endogenous regulators of infection and inflammation. *Nature Reviews Immunology* 2016, **16**(1):51-67.
- 36. Greenlee-Wacker MC: Clearance of apoptotic neutrophils and resolution of inflammation. *Immunological Reviews* 2016, **273**(1):357-370.
- 37. Serhan CN: Treating inflammation and infection in the 21st century: New hints from decoding resolution mediators and mechanisms. *FASEB Journal* 2017, **31**(4):1273-1288.
- Eickmeier O, Seki H, Haworth O, Hilberath JN, Gao F, Uddin M, Croze RH, Carlo T, Pfeffer MA, Levy BD: Aspirin-triggered resolvin D1 reduces mucosal inflammation and promotes resolution in a murine model of acute lung injury. *Mucosal Immunology* 2013, 6(2):256-266.
- 39. Serhan CN, Maddox JF, Petasis NA, Akritopoulou-Zanze I, Papayianni A, Brady HR, Colgan SP, Madara JL: Design of lipoxin A4 stable analogs that block transmigration and adhesion of human neutrophils. *Biochemistry* 1995, **34**(44):14609-14615.
- Lee TH, Horton CE, Kyan-Aung U, Haskard D, Crea AEG, Spur BW: Lipoxin A4 and lipoxin B4 inhibit chemotactic responses of human neutrophils stimulated by leukotriene B4 and N-Formyl-I-Methionyl-I-Leucyl-I-Phenylalanine. *Clinical Science* 1989, 77(2):195-203.
- 41. Papayianni A, Serhan CN, Brady HR: Lipoxin A4 and B4 inhibit leukotrienestimulated interactions of human neutrophils and endothelial cells. *Journal of Immunology* 1996, **156**(6):2264-2272.
- 42. Li W, Shepherd HM, Terada Y, Shay AE, Bery AI, Gelman AE, Lavine KJ, Serhan CN, Kreisel D: **Resolvin D1 prevents injurious neutrophil swarming in transplanted lungs**. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 2023, **120**(31):e2302938120.
- Serhan CN, Gotlinger K, Hong S, Lu Y, Siegelman J, Baer T, Yang R, Colgan SP, Petasis NA: Anti-inflammatory actions of neuroprotectin D1/protectin D1 and its natural stereoisomers: Assignments of dihydroxy-containing docosatrienes. *Journal of Immunology* 2006, 176(3):1848-1859.
- 44. Mitchell S, Thomas G, Harvey K, Cottell D, Reville K, Berlasconi G, Petasis NA, Erwig L, Rees AJ, Savill J, Brady HR, Godson C: Lipoxins, aspirin-triggered epi-lipoxins, lipoxin stable analogues, and the resolution of inflammation: Stimulation of macrophage phagocytosis of apoptotic neutrophils in vivo. Journal of the American Society of Nephrology 2002, 13(10):2497-2507.
- 45. Serhan CN: Lipoxins and aspirin-triggered 15-epi-lipoxins are the first lipid mediators of endogenous anti-inflammation and resolution. *Prostaglandins Leukotrienes Essential Fatty Acids* 2005, 73(3-4):141-162.
- Levy BD, Clish CB, Schmidt B, Gronert K, Serhan CN: Lipid mediator class switching during acute inflammation: Signals in resolution. *Nature Immunology* 2001, 2(7):612-619.
- 47. Serhan CN: On the relationship between leukotriene and lipoxin production by human neutrophils: Evidence for differential metabolism of 15-HETE and 5-HETE. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta* 1989, **1004**(2):158-168.
- Takano T, Fiore S, Maddox JF, Brady HR, Petasis NA, Serhan CN: Aspirin-triggered 15-epi-lipoxin A4 (LXA4) and LXA4 stable analogues are potent inhibitors of acute inflammation: Evidence for anti-inflammatory receptors. *Journal of Experimental Medicine* 1997, 185(9):1693-1704.

- Chandrasekharan JA, Sharma-Walia N: Lipoxins: Nature's way to resolve inflammation. Journal of Inflammation Research 2015, 8:181-192.
- 50. Clària J, Serhan CN: Aspirin triggers previously undescribed bioactive eicosanoids by human endothelial cell-leukocyte interactions. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 1995, **92**(21):9475-9479.
- 51. Maddox JF, Serhan CN: Lipoxin A4 and B4 are potent stimuli for human monocyte migration and adhesion: Selective inactivation by dehydrogenation and reduction. *Journal of Experimental Medicine* 1996, **183**(1):137-146.
- 52. Colgan SP, Serhan CN, Parkos CA, Delp-Archer C, Madara JL: Lipoxin A4 modulates transmigration of human neutrophils across intestinal epithelial monolayers. *Journal of Clinical Investigation* 1993, **92**(1):75-82.
- 53. Hachicha M, Pouliot M, Petasis NA, Serhan CN: Lipoxin (LX)A4 and aspirin-triggered 15-epi-LXA4 inhibit tumor necrosis factor 1alpha-initiated neutrophil responses and trafficking: Regulators of a cytokine-chemokine axis. *Journal of Experimental Medicine* 1999, **189**(12):1923-1930.
- 54. Pan WH, Hu X, Chen B, Xu QC, Mei HX: The effect and mechanism of lipoxin A4 on neutrophil function in LPS-induced lung injury. *Inflammation* 2022, 45(5):1950-1967.
- 55. Fiore S, Serhan CN: Lipoxin A4 receptor activation is distinct from that of the formyl peptide receptor in myeloid cells: Inhibition of CD11/18 expression by lipoxin A4-lipoxin A4 receptor interaction. *Biochemistry* 1995, **34**(51):16678-16686.
- 56. Filep JG, Zouki C, Petasis NA, Hachicha M, Serhan CN: Anti-inflammatory actions of lipoxin A(4) stable analogs are demonstrable in human whole blood: Modulation of leukocyte adhesion molecules and inhibition of neutrophil-endothelial interactions. *Blood* 1999, 94(12):4132-4142.
- 57. Wu B, Walker J, Spur B, Rodriguez A, Yin K: Effects of lipoxin A4 on antimicrobial actions of neutrophils in sepsis. *Prostaglandins Leukotrienes Essential Fatty Acids* 2015, 94:55-64.
- 58. Bogseth A, Ramirez A, Vaughan E, Maisel K: *In vitro* models of blood and lymphatic vessels-connecting tissues and immunity. *Advanced Biology* 2023, **7**(5):e2200041.
- Kraft JD, Blomgran R, Lundgaard I, Quiding-Järbrink M, Bromberg JS, Börgeson E: Specialized pro-resolving mediators and the lymphatic system. *International Journal* of Molecular Sciences 2021, 22(5):2750.
- 60. Aspelund A, Robciuc MR, Karaman S, Makinen T, Alitalo K: Lymphatic system in cardiovascular medicine. *Circulation Research* 2016, **118**(3):515-530.
- 61. Norden PR, Kume T: **The role of lymphatic vascular function in metabolic disorders**. *Frontiers in Physiology* 2020, **11**:404.
- Llodrá J, Angeli V, Liu J, Trogan E, Fisher EA, Randolph GJ: Emigration of monocytederived cells from atherosclerotic lesions characterizes regressive, but not progressive, plaques. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 2004, 101(32):11779-11784.
- 63. Bennett JM, Reeves G, Billman GE, Sturmberg JP: Inflammation-nature's way to efficiently respond to all types of challenges: Implications for understanding and managing "the epidemic" of chronic diseases. *Frontiers in Medicine* 2018, **5**:316.
- Chakaroun RM, Olsson LM, Bäckhed F: The potential of tailoring the gut microbiome to prevent and treat cardiometabolic disease. *Nature Reviews Cardiology* 2023, 20(4):217-235.

- 65. Kivimäki M, Kuosma E, Ferrie JE, Luukkonen R, Nyberg ST, Alfredsson L, Batty GD, Brunner EJ, Fransson E, Goldberg M, Knutsson A, Koskenvuo M, Nordin M, Oksanen T, Pentti J, Rugulies R, Shipley MJ, Singh-Manoux A, Steptoe A, Suominen SB, Theorell T, Vahtera J, Virtanen M, Westerholm P, Westerlund H, Zins M, Hamer M, Bell JA, Tabak AG, Jokela M: Overweight, obesity, and risk of cardiometabolic multimorbidity: Pooled analysis of individual-level data for 120 813 adults from 16 cohort studies from the USA and Europe. Lancet Public Health 2017, 2(6):e277-e285.
- 66. Valenzuela PL, Carrera-Bastos P, Castillo-García A, Lieberman DE, Santos-Lozano A, Lucia A: **Obesity and the risk of cardiometabolic diseases**. *Nature Reviews Cardiology* 2023, **20**(7):475-494.
- 67. Powell-Wiley TM, Poirier P, Burke LE, Després JP, Gordon-Larsen P, Lavie CJ, Lear SA, Ndumele CE, Neeland IJ, Sanders P, St-Onge MP: **Obesity and cardiovascular disease: A scientific statement From the american heart association**. *Circulation* 2021, **143**(21):e984-e1010.
- 68. Esser N, Paquot N, Scheen AJ: Inflammatory markers and cardiometabolic diseases. *Acta Clinica Belgica* 2015, **70**(3):193-199.
- 69. Donath MY, Meier DT, Boni-Schnetzler M: Inflammation in the pathophysiology and therapy of cardiometabolic disease. *Endocrine Reviews* 2019, **40**(4):1080-1091.
- Benítez-Páez A, Gómez Del Pulgar EM, Kjølbæk L, Brahe LK, Astrup A, Larsen L, Sanz Y: Impact of dietary fiber and fat on gut microbiota re-modeling and metabolic health. Trends in Food Science & Technology 2016, 57:201-212.
- 71. Sproston NR, Ashworth JJ: Role of C-reactive protein at sites of inflammation and infection. *Frontiers in Immunology* 2018, 9:754-754.
- 72. Ruparelia N, Chai JT, Fisher EA, Choudhury RP: Inflammatory processes in cardiovascular disease: A route to targeted therapies. *Nature Reviews Cardiology* 2017, 14(3):133-144.
- 73. Lopez-Candales A, Hernández Burgos PM, Hernandez-Suarez DF, Harris D: Linking chronic inflammation with cardiovascular disease: From normal aging to the metabolic syndrome. *Journal of Nature and Science* 2017, **3**(4):e341.
- 74. Vaccarezza M, Balla C, Rizzo P: Atherosclerosis as an inflammatory disease: Doubts? No more. International Journal of Cardiology Heart & Vasculature 2018, 19:1-2.
- 75. Frąk W, Wojtasińska A, Lisińska W, Młynarska E, Franczyk B, Rysz J: **Pathophysiology** of cardiovascular diseases: New insights into molecular mechanisms of atherosclerosis, arterial hypertension, and coronary artery disease. *Biomedicines* 2022, **10**(8).
- 76. Moriya J: Critical roles of inflammation in atherosclerosis. *Journal of Cardiology* 2019, **73**(1):22-27.
- 77. Jebari-Benslaiman S, Galicia-García U, Larrea-Sebal A, Olaetxea JR, Alloza I, Vandenbroeck K, Benito-Vicente A, Martín C: **Pathophysiology of atherosclerosis**. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 2022, **23**(6):3346.
- 78. de Jager SC, Bot I, Kraaijeveld AO, Korporaal SJ, Bot M, van Santbrink PJ, van Berkel TJ, Kuiper J, Biessen EA: Leukocyte-specific CCL3 deficiency inhibits atherosclerotic lesion development by affecting neutrophil accumulation. Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology 2013, 33(3):e75-83.
- 79. Fava C, Montagnana M: Atherosclerosis is an inflammatory disease which lacks a common anti-inflammatory therapy: How human genetics can help to this issue. A narrative review. *Frontiers in Pharmacology* 2018, 9:55-55.
- 80. Tabas I, García-Cardeña G, Owens GK: Recent insights into the cellular biology of atherosclerosis. *Journal of Cell Biology* 2015, 209(1):13-22.

- Naruko T, Ueda M, Haze K, van der Wal AC, van der Loos CM, Itoh A, Komatsu R, Ikura Y, Ogami M, Shimada Y, Ehara S, Yoshiyama M, Takeuchi K, Yoshikawa J, Becker AE: Neutrophil infiltration of culprit lesions in acute coronary syndromes. *Circulation* 2002, 106(23):2894-2900.
- 82. Haumer M, Amighi J, Exner M, Mlekusch W, Sabeti S, Schlager O, Schwarzinger I, Wagner O, Minar E, Schillinger M: Association of neutrophils and future cardiovascular events in patients with peripheral artery disease. *Journal of Vascular Surgery* 2005, **41**(4):610-617.
- 83. Nagareddy PR, Murphy AJ, Stirzaker RA, Hu Y, Yu S, Miller RG, Ramkhelawon B, Distel E, Westerterp M, Huang LS, Schmidt AM, Orchard TJ, Fisher EA, Tall AR, Goldberg IJ: Hyperglycemia promotes myelopoiesis and impairs the resolution of atherosclerosis. *Cell Metabolism* 2013, 17(5):695-708.
- 84. Gu Q, Yang X, Lv J, Zhang J, Xia B, Kim JD, Wang R, Xiong F, Meng S, Clements TP, Tandon B, Wagner DS, Diaz MF, Wenzel PL, Miller YI, Traver D, Cooke JP, Li W, Zon LI, Chen K, Bai Y, Fang L: AIBP-mediated cholesterol efflux instructs hematopoietic stem and progenitor cell fate. *Science* 2019, **363**(6431):1085-1088.
- Zernecke A, Bot I, Djalali-Talab Y, Shagdarsuren E, Bidzhekov K, Meiler S, Krohn R, Schober A, Sperandio M, Soehnlein O, Bornemann J, Tacke F, Biessen EA, Weber C: Protective role of CXC receptor 4/CXC ligand 12 unveils the importance of neutrophils in atherosclerosis. *Circulation Research* 2008, 102(2):209-217.
- 86. Quillard T, Araújo HA, Franck G, Shvartz E, Sukhova G, Libby P: **TLR2** and neutrophils potentiate endothelial stress, apoptosis and detachment: Implications for superficial erosion. *European Heart Journal* 2015, **36**(22):1394-1404.
- 87. Sarrazy V, Viaud M, Westerterp M, Ivanov S, Giorgetti-Peraldi S, Guinamard R, Gautier EL, Thorp EB, De Vivo DC, Yvan-Charvet L: Disruption of Glut1 in hematopoietic stem cells prevents myelopoiesis and enhanced glucose flux in atheromatous plaques of ApoE(-/-) mice. *Circulation Research* 2016, **118**(7):1062-1077.
- 88. Westerterp M, Fotakis P, Ouimet M, Bochem AE, Zhang H, Molusky MM, Wang W, Abramowicz S, la Bastide-van Gemert S, Wang N, Welch CL, Reilly MP, Stroes ES, Moore KJ, Tall AR: Cholesterol efflux pathways suppress inflammasome activation, NETosis, and atherogenesis. *Circulation* 2018, 138(9):898-912.
- 89. Kaiser R, Escaig R, Erber J, Nicolai L: Neutrophil-platelet interactions as novel treatment targets in cardiovascular disease. Frontiers in Cardiovascular Medicine 2021, 8:824112.
- 90. Gomez I, Ward B, Souilhol C, Recarti C, Ariaans M, Johnston J, Burnett A, Mahmoud M, Luong LA, West L, Long M, Parry S, Woods R, Hulston C, Benedikter B, Niespolo C, Bazaz R, Francis S, Kiss-Toth E, van Zandvoort M, Schober A, Hellewell P, Evans PC, Ridger V: Neutrophil microvesicles drive atherosclerosis by delivering miR-155 to atheroprone endothelium. *Nature Communications* 2020, 11(1):214.
- 91. Elajami TK, Colas RA, Dalli J, Chiang N, Serhan CN, Welty FK: Specialized proresolving lipid mediators in patients with coronary artery disease and their potential for clot remodeling. *FASEB Journal* 2016, **30**(8):2792-2801.
- 92. Grenon SM, Owens CD, Nosova EV, Hughes-Fulford M, Alley HF, Chong K, Perez S, Yen PK, Boscardin J, Hellmann J, Spite M, Conte MS: Short-term, high-dose fish oil supplementation increases the production of omega-3 fatty acid-derived mediators in patients with peripheral artery disease (the OMEGA-PAD I Trial). Journal of the American Heart Association 2015, 4(8):e002034.

- 93. Nicholls SJ, Lincoff AM, Bash D, Ballantyne CM, Barter PJ, Davidson MH, Kastelein JJP, Koenig W, McGuire DK, Mozaffarian D, Pedersen TR, Ridker PM, Ray K, Karlson BW, Lundstrom T, Wolski K, Nissen SE: Assessment of omega-3 carboxylic acids in statin-treated patients with high levels of triglycerides and low levels of high-density lipoprotein cholesterol: Rationale and design of the STRENGTH trial. *Clinical Cardiology* 2018, 41(10):1281-1288.
- Ramirez JL, Gasper WJ, Khetani SA, Zahner GJ, Hills NK, Mitchell PT, Sansbury BE, Conte MS, Spite M, Grenon SM: Fish oil increases specialized pro-resolving lipid mediators in PAD (The OMEGA-PAD II Trial). *Journal of Surgical Research* 2019, 238:164-174.
- 95. Vors C, Allaire J, Marin J, Lepine MC, Charest A, Tchernof A, Couture P, Lamarche B: Inflammatory gene expression in whole blood cells after EPA vs. DHA supplementation: Results from the ComparED study. *Atherosclerosis* 2017, 257:116-122.
- 96. Watanabe T, Ando K, Daidoji H, Otaki Y, Sugawara S, Matsui M, Ikeno E, Hirono O, Miyawaki H, Yashiro Y, Nishiyama S, Arimoto T, Takahashi H, Shishido T, Miyashita T, Miyamoto T, Kubota I: A randomized controlled trial of eicosapentaenoic acid in patients with coronary heart disease on statins. *Journal of Cardiology* 2017, 70(6):537-544.
- Motwani MP, Colas RA, George MJ, Flint JD, Dalli J, Richard-Loendt A, De Maeyer RP, Serhan CN, Gilroy DW: Pro-resolving mediators promote resolution in a human skin model of UV-killed Escherichia coli-driven acute inflammation. JCI Insight 2018, 3(6):e94463.
- 98. Börgeson E, Lonn J, Bergstrom I, Brodin VP, Ramstrom S, Nayeri F, Sarndahl E, Bengtsson T: Lipoxin A(4) inhibits porphyromonas gingivalis-induced aggregation and reactive oxygen species production by modulating neutrophil-platelet interaction and CD11b expression. *Infection and Immunity* 2011, 79(4):1489-1497.
- 99. Brennan E, Wang B, McClelland A, Mohan M, Marai M, Beuscart O, Derouiche S, Gray S, Pickering R, Tikellis C, de Gaetano M, Barry M, Belton O, Ali-Shah ST, Guiry P, Jandeleit-Dahm KAM, Cooper ME, Godson C, Kantharidis P: Protective effect of let-7 miRNA family in regulating inflammation in diabetes-associated atherosclerosis. Diabetes 2017, 66(8):2266-2277.
- 100. Brennan EP, Mohan M, McClelland A, de Gaetano M, Tikellis C, Marai M, Crean D, Dai A, Beuscart O, Derouiche S, Gray SP, Pickering R, Tan SM, Godson-Treacy M, Sheehan S, Dowdall JF, Barry M, Belton O, Ali-Shah ST, Guiry PJ, Jandeleit-Dahm K, Cooper ME, Godson C, Kantharidis P: Lipoxins protect against inflammation in diabetes-associated atherosclerosis. *Diabetes* 2018, 67(12):2657-2667.
- 101. Bäck M, Yurdagul A, Jr., Tabas I, Oorni K, Kovanen PT: Inflammation and its resolution in atherosclerosis: Mediators and therapeutic opportunities. Nature Reviews Cardiology 2019, 16(7):389-406.
- 102. Petri MH, Laguna-Fernandez A, Gonzalez-Diez M, Paulsson-Berne G, Hansson GK, Bäck M: The role of the FPR2/ALX receptor in atherosclerosis development and plaque stability. *Cardiovascular Research* 2015, **105**(1):65-74.
- 103. Sensoy I: A review on the food digestion in the digestive tract and the used in vitro models. *Current Research in Food Science* 2021, 4:308-319.
- 104. Mowat AM, Agace WW: Regional specialization within the intestinal immune system. *Nature Reviews Immunology* 2014, 14(10):667-685.
- 105. Beasley DE, Koltz AM, Lambert JE, Fierer N, Dunn RR: The evolution of stomach acidity and its relevance to the human microbiome. *PLoS One* 2015, **10**(7):e0134116.

- 106. Soderholm AT, Pedicord VA: Intestinal epithelial cells: At the interface of the microbiota and mucosal immunity. *Immunology* 2019, **158**(4):267-280.
- 107. Okumura R, Takeda K: Roles of intestinal epithelial cells in the maintenance of gut homeostasis. *Experimental & Molecular Medicine* 2017, **49**(5):e338.
- Horowitz A, Chanez-Paredes SD, Haest X, Turner JR: Paracellular permeability and tight junction regulation in gut health and disease. *Nature Reviews Gastroenterology* & *Hepatology* 2023, 20(7):417-432.
- 109. Sun WW, Krystofiak ES, Leo-Macias A, Cui R, Sesso A, Weigert R, Ebrahim S, Kachar B: Nanoarchitecture and dynamics of the mouse enteric glycocalyx examined by freeze-etching electron tomography and intravital microscopy. Communications Biology 2020, 3(1):5.
- 110. Bevins CL, Salzman NH: Paneth cells, antimicrobial peptides and maintenance of intestinal homeostasis. *Nature Reviews Microbiology* 2011, **9**(5):356-368.
- 111. Fan Y, Pedersen O: Gut microbiota in human metabolic health and disease. *Nature Reviews Microbiology* 2021, **19**(1):55-71.
- 112. Hou K, Wu ZX, Chen XY, Wang JQ, Zhang D, Xiao C, Zhu D, Koya JB, Wei L, Li J, Chen Z-S: Microbiota in health and diseases. *Signal Transduction and Targeted Therapy* 2022, **7**(1).
- 113. Li J, Jia H, Cai X, Zhong H, Feng Q, Sunagawa S, Arumugam M, Kultima JR, Prifti E, Nielsen T, Juncker AS, Manichanh C, Chen B, Zhang W, Levenez F, Wang J, Xu X, Xiao L, Liang S, Zhang D, Zhang Z, Chen W, Zhao H, Al-Aama JY, Edris S, Yang H, Wang J, Hansen T, Nielsen HB, Brunak S, Kristiansen K, Guarner F, Pedersen O, Doré J, Ehrlich SD, Bork P, Wang J: An integrated catalog of reference genes in the human gut microbiome. *Nature Biotechnology* 2014, **32**(8):834-841.
- 114. Olofsson LE, Bäckhed F: The metabolic role and therapeutic potential of the microbiome. *Endocrinology Reviews* 2022.
- 115. Schroeder BO, Bäckhed F: Signals from the gut microbiota to distant organs in physiology and disease. *Nature Medicine* 2016, **22**(10):1079-1089.
- 116. Krautkramer KA, Fan J, Bäckhed F: Gut microbial metabolites as multi-kingdom intermediates. *Nature Reviews Microbiology* 2021, **19**(2):77-94.
- 117. Wen L, Duffy A: Factors influencing the gut microbiota, inflammation, and type 2 diabetes. *Journal of Nutrition* 2017, **147**(7):1468s-1475s.
- 118. Bajinka O, Tan Y, Abdelhalim KA, Özdemir G, Qiu X: Extrinsic factors influencing gut microbes, the immediate consequences and restoring eubiosis. AMB Express 2020, 10(1):130.
- 119. David LA, Maurice CF, Carmody RN, Gootenberg DB, Button JE, Wolfe BE, Ling AV, Devlin AS, Varma Y, Fischbach MA, Biddinger SB, Dutton RJ, Turnbaugh PJ: Diet rapidly and reproducibly alters the human gut microbiome. *Nature* 2014, 505(7484):559-563.
- 120. Korem T, Zeevi D, Zmora N, Weissbrod O, Bar N, Lotan-Pompan M, Avnit-Sagi T, Kosower N, Malka G, Rein M, Suez J, Goldberg BZ, Weinberger A, Levy AA, Elinav E, Segal E: Bread affects clinical parameters and induces gut microbiome-associated personal glycemic responses. *Cell Metabolism* 2017, **25**(6):1243-1253.e1245.
- 121. Kolodziejczyk AA, Zheng D, Elinav E: Diet-microbiota interactions and personalized nutrition. *Nature Reviews Microbiology* 2019, **17**(12):742-753.

- 122. Zhernakova A, Kurilshikov A, Bonder MJ, Tigchelaar EF, Schirmer M, Vatanen T, Mujagic Z, Vila AV, Falony G, Vieira-Silva S, Wang J, Imhann F, Brandsma E, Jankipersadsing SA, Joossens M, Cenit MC, Deelen P, Swertz MA, Weersma RK, Feskens EJ, Netea MG, Gevers D, Jonkers D, Franke L, Aulchenko YS, Huttenhower C, Raes J, Hofker MH, Xavier RJ, Wijmenga C, Fu J: Population-based metagenomics analysis reveals markers for gut microbiome composition and diversity. *Science* 2016, 352(6285):565-569.
- 123. Falony G, Joossens M, Vieira-Silva S, Wang J, Darzi Y, Faust K, Kurilshikov A, Bonder MJ, Valles-Colomer M, Vandeputte D, Tito RY, Chaffron S, Rymenans L, Verspecht C, De Sutter L, Lima-Mendez G, D'Hoe K, Jonckheere K, Homola D, Garcia R, Tigchelaar EF, Eeckhaudt L, Fu J, Henckaerts L, Zhernakova A, Wijmenga C, Raes J: Population-level analysis of gut microbiome variation. *Science* 2016, 352(6285):560-564.
- 124. Monda V, Villano I, Messina A, Valenzano A, Esposito T, Moscatelli F, Viggiano A, Cibelli G, Chieffi S, Monda M, Messina G: Exercise modifies the gut microbiota with positive health effects. Oxidative Medicine and Cellular Longevity 2017, 2017:3831972.
- 125. Pham TA, Lawley TD: Emerging insights on intestinal dysbiosis during bacterial infections. *Current Opinion in Microbiology* 2014, **17**(100):67-74.
- 126. Maier L, Pruteanu M, Kuhn M, Zeller G, Telzerow A, Anderson EE, Brochado AR, Fernandez KC, Dose H, Mori H, Patil KR, Bork P, Typas A: Extensive impact of nonantibiotic drugs on human gut bacteria. *Nature* 2018, 555(7698):623-628.
- 127. Forslund SK, Chakaroun R, Zimmermann-Kogadeeva M, Markó L, Aron-Wisnewsky J, Nielsen T, Moitinho-Silva L, Schmidt TSB, Falony G, Vieira-Silva S, Adriouch S, Alves RJ, Assmann K, Bastard JP, Birkner T, Caesar R, Chilloux J, Coelho LP, Fezeu L, Galleron N, Helft G, Isnard R, Ji B, Kuhn M, Le Chatelier E, Myridakis A, Olsson L, Pons N, Prifti E, Quinquis B, Roume H, Salem JE, Sokolovska N, Tremaroli V, Valles-Colomer M, Lewinter C, Søndertoft NB, Pedersen HK, Hansen TH, Gøtze JP, Køber L, Vestergaard H, Hansen T, Zucker JD, Hercberg S, Oppert JM, Letunic I, Nielsen J, Bäckhed F, Ehrlich SD, Dumas ME, Raes J, Pedersen O, Clément K, Stumvoll M, Bork P: Combinatorial, additive and dose-dependent drug-microbiome associations. Nature 2021, 600(7889):500-505.
- 128. Goodrich JK, Davenport ER, Beaumont M, Jackson MA, Knight R, Ober C, Spector TD, Bell JT, Clark AG, Ley RE: Genetic determinants of the gut microbiome in UK twins. *Cell Host Microbe* 2016, **19**(5):731-743.
- 129. Goodrich JK, Waters JL, Poole AC, Sutter JL, Koren O, Blekhman R, Beaumont M, Van Treuren W, Knight R, Bell JT, Spector TD, Clark AG, Ley RE: Human genetics shape the gut microbiome. *Cell* 2014, **159**(4):789-799.
- 130. Sanz Y, Olivares M: Tiny contributors to severe obesity inside the gut. Gut 2022, 71(12):2376-2378.
- 131. Mallott EK, Borries C, Koenig A, Amato KR, Lu A: Reproductive hormones mediate changes in the gut microbiome during pregnancy and lactation in Phayre's leaf monkeys. *Scientific Reports* 2020, **10**(1):9961.
- 132. Wang P, Wu PF, Wang HJ, Liao F, Wang F, Chen JG: **Gut microbiome-derived** ammonia modulates stress vulnerability in the host. *Nature Metabolism* 2023.
- 133. Shalon D, Culver RN, Grembi JA, Folz J, Treit PV, Shi H, Rosenberger FA, Dethlefsen L, Meng X, Yaffe E, Aranda-Díaz A, Geyer PE, Mueller-Reif JB, Spencer S, Patterson AD, Triadafilopoulos G, Holmes SP, Mann M, Fiehn O, Relman DA, Huang KC: Profiling the human intestinal environment under physiological conditions. *Nature* 2023, 617(7961):581-591.

- 134. Vandeputte D, De Commer L, Tito RY, Kathagen G, Sabino J, Vermeire S, Faust K, Raes J: Temporal variability in quantitative human gut microbiome profiles and implications for clinical research. *Nature Communications* 2021, **12**(1):6740.
- 135. Kim CS, Shin GE, Cheong Y, Shin JH, Shin DM, Chun WY: Experiencing social exclusion changes gut microbiota composition. *Translational Psychiatry* 2022, 12(1):254.
- 136. Gilbert JA, Blaser MJ, Caporaso JG, Jansson JK, Lynch SV, Knight R: Current understanding of the human microbiome. *Nature Medicine* 2018, **24**(4):392-400.
- 137. Sonnenburg JL, Bäckhed F: Diet-microbiota interactions as moderators of human metabolism. *Nature* 2016, **535**(7610):56-64.
- 138. Kastl AJ, Jr., Terry NA, Wu GD, Albenberg LG: The structure and function of the human small intestinal microbiota: Current understanding and future directions. *Cellular and Molecular Gastroenterology and Hepatology* 2020, 9(1):33-45.
- 139. Jensen BAH, Heyndrickx M, Jonkers D, Mackie A, Millet S, Naghibi M, Pærregaard SI, Pot B, Saulnier D, Sina C, Sterkman LGW, Van den Abbeele P, Venlet NV, Zoetendal EG, Ouwehand AC: Small intestine vs. colon ecology and physiology: Why it matters in probiotic administration. *Cell Reports Medicine* 2023, 4(9):101190.
- 140. Kelsen JR, Wu GD: **The gut microbiota, environment and diseases of modern society**. *Gut Microbes* 2012, **3**(4):374-382.
- 141. Turnbaugh PJ, Ley RE, Mahowald MA, Magrini V, Mardis ER, Gordon JI: An obesityassociated gut microbiome with increased capacity for energy harvest. *Nature* 2006, 444(7122):1027-1031.
- 142. Karlsson FH, Tremaroli V, Nookaew I, Bergström G, Behre CJ, Fagerberg B, Nielsen J, Bäckhed F: Gut metagenome in European women with normal, impaired and diabetic glucose control. *Nature* 2013, **498**(7452):99-103.
- Ley RE, Bäckhed F, Turnbaugh P, Lozupone CA, Knight RD, Gordon JI: Obesity alters gut microbial ecology. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 2005, 102(31):11070-11075.
- 144. Duvallet C, Gibbons SM, Gurry T, Irizarry RA, Alm EJ: Meta-analysis of gut microbiome studies identifies disease-specific and shared responses. *Nature Communications* 2017, **8**(1):1784.
- 145. Sze MA, Schloss PD: Looking for a signal in the noise: Revisiting obesity and the microbiome. *mBio* 2016, 7(4).
- 146. Yang T, Santisteban MM, Rodriguez V, Li E, Ahmari N, Carvajal JM, Zadeh M, Gong M, Qi Y, Zubcevic J, Sahay B, Pepine CJ, Raizada MK, Mohamadzadeh M: Gut dysbiosis is linked to hypertension. *Hypertension* 2015, 65(6):1331-1340.
- 147. Le Chatelier E, Nielsen T, Qin J, Prifti E, Hildebrand F, Falony G, Almeida M, Arumugam M, Batto JM, Kennedy S, Leonard P, Li J, Burgdorf K, Grarup N, Jørgensen T, Brandslund I, Nielsen HB, Juncker AS, Bertalan M, Levenez F, Pons N, Rasmussen S, Sunagawa S, Tap J, Tims S, Zoetendal EG, Brunak S, Clément K, Doré J, Kleerebezem M, Kristiansen K, Renault P, Sicheritz-Ponten T, de Vos WM, Zucker JD, Raes J, Hansen T, Bork P, Wang J, Ehrlich SD, Pedersen O: Richness of human gut microbiome correlates with metabolic markers. *Nature* 2013, 500(7464):541-546.
- 148. Grahnemo L, Nethander M, Coward E, Gabrielsen ME, Sree S, Billod JM, Engstrand L, Abrahamsson S, Langhammer A, Hveem K, Ohlsson C: Cross-sectional associations between the gut microbe *Ruminococcus gnavus* and features of the metabolic syndrome. *Lancet Diabetes Endocrinology* 2022, 10(7):481-483.
- 149. Waters JL, Ley RE: The human gut bacteria *Christensenellaceae* are widespread, heritable, and associated with health. *BMC Biology* 2019, **17**(1):83.

- 150. Forslund K, Hildebrand F, Nielsen T, Falony G, Le Chatelier E, Sunagawa S, Prifti E, Vieira-Silva S, Gudmundsdottir V, Pedersen HK, Arumugam M, Kristiansen K, Voigt AY, Vestergaard H, Hercog R, Costea PI, Kultima JR, Li J, Jørgensen T, Levenez F, Dore J, Nielsen HB, Brunak S, Raes J, Hansen T, Wang J, Ehrlich SD, Bork P, Pedersen O: Disentangling type 2 diabetes and metformin treatment signatures in the human gut microbiota. *Nature* 2015, **528**(7581):262-266.
- 151. Wu H, Tremaroli V, Schmidt C, Lundqvist A, Olsson LM, Krämer M, Gummesson A, Perkins R, Bergström G, Bäckhed F: The gut microbiota in prediabetes and diabetes: A population-based cross-sectional study. *Cell Metabolism* 2020, 32(3):379-390.e373.
- 152. Zhang X, Shen D, Fang Z, Jie Z, Qiu X, Zhang C, Chen Y, Ji L: Human gut microbiota changes reveal the progression of glucose intolerance. *PLoS One* 2013, **8**(8):e71108.
- 153. Yassour M, Lim MY, Yun HS, Tickle TL, Sung J, Song YM, Lee K, Franzosa EA, Morgan XC, Gevers D, Lander ES, Xavier RJ, Birren BW, Ko G, Huttenhower C: Subclinical detection of gut microbial biomarkers of obesity and type 2 diabetes. *Genome Medicine* 2016, 8(1):17.
- 154. Li Q, Chang Y, Zhang K, Chen H, Tao S, Zhang Z: Implication of the gut microbiome composition of type 2 diabetic patients from northern China. *Scientific Reports* 2020, 10(1):5450.
- 155. Flint HJ, Duncan SH, Scott KP, Louis P: Links between diet, gut microbiota composition and gut metabolism. *Proceedings of the Nutrition Society* 2015, 74(1):13-22.
- 156. Bäckhed F, Ding H, Wang T, Hooper LV, Koh GY, Nagy A, Semenkovich CF, Gordon JI: The gut microbiota as an environmental factor that regulates fat storage. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 2004, 101(44):15718-15723.
- 157. Ridaura VK, Faith JJ, Rey FE, Cheng J, Duncan AE, Kau AL, Griffin NW, Lombard V, Henrissat B, Bain JR, Muehlbauer MJ, Ilkayeva O, Semenkovich CF, Funai K, Hayashi DK, Lyle BJ, Martini MC, Ursell LK, Clemente JC, Van Treuren W, Walters WA, Knight R, Newgard CB, Heath AC, Gordon JI: Gut microbiota from twins discordant for obesity modulate metabolism in mice. *Science* 2013, 341(6150):1241214.
- 158. Caesar R, Reigstad CS, Bäckhed HK, Reinhardt C, Ketonen M, Lundén G, Cani PD, Bäckhed F: Gut-derived lipopolysaccharide augments adipose macrophage accumulation but is not essential for impaired glucose or insulin tolerance in mice. *Gut* 2012, 61(12):1701-1707.
- 159. Caesar R, Tremaroli V, Kovatcheva-Datchary P, Cani PD, Bäckhed F: Crosstalk between gut microbiota and dietary lipids aggravates WAT inflammation through TLR signaling. *Cell metabolism* 2015, **22**(4):658-668.
- 160. Pussinen PJ, Havulinna AS, Lehto M, Sundvall J, Salomaa V: Endotoxemia is associated with an increased risk of incident diabetes. *Diabetes Care* 2011, **34**(2):392-397.
- 161. Cani PD, Amar J, Iglesias MA, Poggi M, Knauf C, Bastelica D, Neyrinck AM, Fava F, Tuohy KM, Chabo C, Waget A, Delmée E, Cousin B, Sulpice T, Chamontin B, Ferrières J, Tanti JF, Gibson GR, Casteilla L, Delzenne NM, Alessi MC, Burcelin R: Metabolic endotoxemia initiates obesity and insulin resistance. *Diabetes* 2007, 56(7):1761-1772.
- 162. Frost G, Sleeth ML, Sahuri-Arisoylu M, Lizarbe B, Cerdan S, Brody L, Anastasovska J, Ghourab S, Hankir M, Zhang S, Carling D, Swann JR, Gibson G, Viardot A, Morrison D, Louise Thomas E, Bell JD: The short-chain fatty acid acetate reduces appetite via a central homeostatic mechanism. *Nature Communications* 2014, 5:3611.
- Tilg H, Moschen AR: Microbiota and diabetes: An evolving relationship. Gut 2014, 63(9):1513-1521.

- 164. Kimura I, Ozawa K, Inoue D, Imamura T, Kimura K, Maeda T, Terasawa K, Kashihara D, Hirano K, Tani T, Takahashi T, Miyauchi S, Shioi G, Inoue H, Tsujimoto G: The gut microbiota suppresses insulin-mediated fat accumulation via the short-chain fatty acid receptor GPR43. Nature Communications 2013, 4:1829.
- 165. Molinaro A, Bel Lassen P, Henricsson M, Wu H, Adriouch S, Belda E, Chakaroun R, Nielsen T, Bergh PO, Rouault C, André S, Marquet F, Andreelli F, Salem JE, Assmann K, Bastard JP, Forslund S, Le Chatelier E, Falony G, Pons N, Prifti E, Quinquis B, Roume H, Vieira-Silva S, Hansen TH, Pedersen HK, Lewinter C, Sønderskov NB, Køber L, Vestergaard H, Hansen T, Zucker JD, Galan P, Dumas ME, Raes J, Oppert JM, Letunic I, Nielsen J, Bork P, Ehrlich SD, Stumvoll M, Pedersen O, Aron-Wisnewsky J, Clément K, Bäckhed F: Imidazole propionate is increased in diabetes and associated with dietary patterns and altered microbial ecology. Nature Communications 2020, 11(1):5881.
- 166. Koh A, Molinaro A, Ståhlman M, Khan MT, Schmidt C, Mannerås-Holm L, Wu H, Carreras A, Jeong H, Olofsson LE, Bergh PO, Gerdes V, Hartstra A, de Brauw M, Perkins R, Nieuwdorp M, Bergström G, Bäckhed F: Microbially produced imidazole propionate impairs insulin signaling through mTORC1. *Cell* 2018, 175(4):947-961.e917.
- 167. Wang Z, Klipfell E, Bennett BJ, Koeth R, Levison BS, Dugar B, Feldstein AE, Britt EB, Fu X, Chung YM, Wu Y, Schauer P, Smith JD, Allayee H, Tang WH, DiDonato JA, Lusis AJ, Hazen SL: Gut flora metabolism of phosphatidylcholine promotes cardiovascular disease. *Nature* 2011, 472(7341):57-63.
- 168. Koeth RA, Wang Z, Levison BS, Buffa JA, Org E, Sheehy BT, Britt EB, Fu X, Wu Y, Li L, Smith JD, DiDonato JA, Chen J, Li H, Wu GD, Lewis JD, Warrier M, Brown JM, Krauss RM, Tang WH, Bushman FD, Lusis AJ, Hazen SL: Intestinal microbiota metabolism of L-carnitine, a nutrient in red meat, promotes atherosclerosis. Nature Medicine 2013, 19(5):576-585.
- 169. Pedersen HK, Gudmundsdottir V, Nielsen HB, Hyotylainen T, Nielsen T, Jensen BA, Forslund K, Hildebrand F, Prifti E, Falony G, Le Chatelier E, Levenez F, Doré J, Mattila I, Plichta DR, Pöhö P, Hellgren LI, Arumugam M, Sunagawa S, Vieira-Silva S, Jørgensen T, Holm JB, Trošt K, Kristiansen K, Brix S, Raes J, Wang J, Hansen T, Bork P, Brunak S, Oresic M, Ehrlich SD, Pedersen O: Human gut microbes impact host serum metabolome and insulin sensitivity. *Nature* 2016, 535(7612):376-381.
- 170. Geirnaert A, Calatayud M, Grootaert C, Laukens D, Devriese S, Smagghe G, De Vos M, Boon N, Van de Wiele T: Butyrate-producing bacteria supplemented *in vitro* to Crohn's disease patient microbiota increased butyrate production and enhanced intestinal epithelial barrier integrity. *Scientific Reports* 2017, 7(1):11450.
- 171. Salvi PS, Cowles RA: Butyrate and the intestinal epithelium: Modulation of proliferation and inflammation in homeostasis and disease. *Cells* 2021, **10**(7).
- 172. Chang PV, Hao L, Offermanns S, Medzhitov R: The microbial metabolite butyrate regulates intestinal macrophage function via histone deacetylase inhibition. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 2014, 111(6):2247-2252.
- 173. Liu H, Wang J, He T, Becker S, Zhang G, Li D, Ma X: Butyrate: A double-edged sword for health? *Advances in Nutrition* 2018, 9(1):21-29.
- 174. Peng L, Li ZR, Green RS, Holzman IR, Lin J: Butyrate enhances the intestinal barrier by facilitating tight junction assembly via activation of AMP-activated protein kinase in Caco-2 cell monolayers. *Journal of Nutrition* 2009, **139**(9):1619-1625.

- 175. Miao W, Wu X, Wang K, Wang W, Wang Y, Li Z, Liu J, Li L, Peng L: Sodium butyrate promotes reassembly of tight junctions in Caco-2 monolayers involving inhibition of MLCK/MLC2 pathway and phosphorylation of PKCβ2. International Journal of Molecular Sciences 2016, 17(10).
- 176. Zheng L, Kelly CJ, Battista KD, Schaefer R, Lanis JM, Alexeev EE, Wang RX, Onyiah JC, Kominsky DJ, Colgan SP: Microbial-derived butyrate promotes epithelial barrier function through IL-10 receptor-dependent repression of claudin-2. *Journal of Immunology* 2017, 199(8):2976-2984.
- 177. Wang HB, Wang PY, Wang X, Wan YL, Liu YC: Butyrate enhances intestinal epithelial barrier function via up-regulation of tight junction protein Claudin-1 transcription. *Digestive Diseases and Sciences* 2012, **57**(12):3126-3135.
- 178. Yan H, Ajuwon KM: Butyrate modifies intestinal barrier function in IPEC-J2 cells through a selective upregulation of tight junction proteins and activation of the Akt signaling pathway. *PLoS One* 2017, **12**(6):e0179586.
- 179. Qin J, Li Y, Cai Z, Li S, Zhu J, Zhang F, Liang S, Zhang W, Guan Y, Shen D, Peng Y, Zhang D, Jie Z, Wu W, Qin Y, Xue W, Li J, Han L, Lu D, Wu P, Dai Y, Sun X, Li Z, Tang A, Zhong S, Li X, Chen W, Xu R, Wang M, Feng Q, Gong M, Yu J, Zhang Y, Zhang M, Hansen T, Sanchez G, Raes J, Falony G, Okuda S, Almeida M, LeChatelier E, Renault P, Pons N, Batto JM, Zhang Z, Chen H, Yang R, Zheng W, Li S, Yang H, Wang J, Ehrlich SD, Nielsen R, Pedersen O, Kristiansen K, Wang J: A metagenome-wide association study of gut microbiota in type 2 diabetes. *Nature* 2012, **490**(7418):55-60.
- 180. Kolluru GK, Shen X, Yuan S, Kevil CG: Gasotransmitter heterocellular signaling. *Antioxidants & Redox Signaling* 2017, 26(16):936-960.
- 181. Cirino G, Szabo C, Papapetropoulos A: Physiological roles of hydrogen sulfide in mammalian cells, tissues, and organs. *Physiological Reviews* 2023, **103**(1):31-276.
- 182. Buret AG, Allain T, Motta JP, Wallace JL: Effects of hydrogen sulfide on the microbiome: From toxicity to therapy. Antioxidants & Redox Signaling 2022, 36(4-6):211-219.
- Mariggiò MA, Minunno V, Riccardi S, Santacroce R, De Rinaldis P, Fumarulo R: Sulfide enhancement of PMN apoptosis. *Immunopharmacology and Immunotoxicology* 1998, 20(3):399-408.
- 184. Motta JP, Flannigan KL, Agbor TA, Beatty JK, Blackler RW, Workentine ML, Da Silva GJ, Wang R, Buret AG, Wallace JL: Hydrogen sulfide protects from colitis and restores intestinal microbiota biofilm and mucus production. *Inflammatory Bowel Diseases* 2015, 21(5):1006-1017.
- Wallace JL, Ferraz JGP, Muscara MN: Hydrogen sulfide: An endogenous mediator of resolution of inflammation and injury. *Antioxidants & Redox Signaling* 2012, 17(1):58-67.
- 186. Wallace JL, Vong L, McKnight W, Dicay M, Martin GR: Endogenous and exogenous hydrogen sulfide promotes resolution of colitis in rats. *Gastroenterology* 2009, 137(2):569-578.e561.
- 187. Chen S-W, Zhu J, Zuo S, Zhang J-L, Chen Z-Y, Chen G-W, Wang X, Pan Y-S, Liu Y-C, Wang P-Y: Protective effect of hydrogen sulfide on TNF-α and IFN-γ-induced injury of intestinal epithelial barrier function in Caco-2 monolayers. *Inflammation Research* 2015, 64(10):789-797.
- 188. Fiorucci S, Antonelli E, Distrutti E, Rizzo G, Mencarelli A, Orlandi S, Zanardo R, Renga B, Di Sante M, Morelli A, Cirino G, Wallace JL: Inhibition of hydrogen sulfide generation contributes to gastric injury caused by anti-inflammatory nonsteroidal drugs. *Gastroenterology* 2005, 129(4):1210-1224.

- 189. Zanardo RC, Brancaleone V, Distrutti E, Fiorucci S, Cirino G, Wallace JL: Hydrogen sulfide is an endogenous modulator of leukocyte-mediated inflammation. FASEB Journal 2006, 20(12):2118-2120.
- 190. Figliuolo VR, Dos Santos LM, Abalo A, Nanini H, Santos A, Brittes NM, Bernardazzi C, de Souza HSP, Vieira LQ, Coutinho-Silva R, Coutinho C: Sulfate-reducing bacteria stimulate gut immune responses and contribute to inflammation in experimental colitis. *Life Sciences* 2017, 189:29-38.
- 191. Kushkevych I, Dordević D, Kollar P, Vítězová M, Drago L: Hydrogen sulfide as a toxic product in the small-large intestine axis and its role in IBD development. *Journal of Clinical Medicine* 2019, 8(7).
- 192. Spezzini J, Piragine E, d'Emmanuele di Villa Bianca R, Bucci M, Martelli A, Calderone V: Hydrogen sulfide and epigenetics: Novel insights into the cardiovascular effects of this gasotransmitter. *British Journal of Pharmacology* 2023, **180**(14):1793-1802.
- 193. Wang R: Two's company, three's a crowd: Can H₂S be the third endogenous gaseous transmitter? *FASEB Journal* 2002, **16**(13):1792-1798.
- Singh SB, Lin HC: Hydrogen sulfide in physiology and diseases of the digestive tract. Microorganisms 2015, 3(4):866-889.
- 195. Roediger WE, Duncan A, Kapaniris O, Millard S: Reducing sulfur compounds of the colon impair colonocyte nutrition: Implications for ulcerative colitis. *Gastroenterology* 1993, **104**(3):802-809.
- 196. Wu YC, Wang XJ, Yu L, Chan FK, Cheng AS, Yu J, Sung JJ, Wu WK, Cho CH: Hydrogen sulfide lowers proliferation and induces protective autophagy in colon epithelial cells. *PLoS One* 2012, 7(5):e37572.
- 197. Deplancke B, Gaskins HR: Hydrogen sulfide induces serum-independent cell cycle entry in nontransformed rat intestinal epithelial cells. *FASEB Journal* 2003, 17(10):1310-1312.
- 198. Kushkevych I, Dordević D, Vítězová M: Possible synergy effect of hydrogen sulfide and acetate produced by sulfate-reducing bacteria on inflammatory bowel disease development. Journal of Advanced Research 2021, 27:71-78.
- 199. Levine J, Ellis CJ, Furne JK, Springfield J, Levitt MD: Fecal hydrogen sulfide production in ulcerative colitis. American Journal of Gastroenterology 1998, 93(1):83-87.
- 200. Khan MT, Duncan SH, Stams AJ, van Dijl JM, Flint HJ, Harmsen HJ: **The gut anaerobe** *Faecalibacterium prausnitzii* uses an extracellular electron shuttle to grow at oxicanoxic interphases. *ISME Journal* 2012, **6**(8):1578-1585.
- 201. Miquel S, Martín R, Rossi O, Bermúdez-Humarán LG, Chatel JM, Sokol H, Thomas M, Wells JM, Langella P: *Faecalibacterium prausnitzii* and human intestinal health. *Current Opinion in Microbiology* 2013, 16(3):255-261.
- 202. Quévrain E, Maubert MA, Michon C, Chain F, Marquant R, Tailhades J, Miquel S, Carlier L, Bermúdez-Humarán LG, Pigneur B, Lequin O, Kharrat P, Thomas G, Rainteau D, Aubry C, Breyner N, Afonso C, Lavielle S, Grill JP, Chassaing G, Chatel JM, Trugnan G, Xavier R, Langella P, Sokol H, Seksik P: Identification of an anti-inflammatory protein from *Faecalibacterium prausnitzii*, a commensal bacterium deficient in Crohn's disease. *Gut* 2016, 65(3):415-425.

- 203. Sokol H, Pigneur B, Watterlot L, Lakhdari O, Bermúdez-Humarán LG, Gratadoux JJ, Blugeon S, Bridonneau C, Furet JP, Corthier G, Grangette C, Vasquez N, Pochart P, Trugnan G, Thomas G, Blottière HM, Doré J, Marteau P, Seksik P, Langella P: *Faecalibacterium prausnitzii* is an anti-inflammatory commensal bacterium identified by gut microbiota analysis of Crohn disease patients. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 2008, **105**(43):16731-16736.
- 204. Zhang M, Qiu X, Zhang H, Yang X, Hong N, Yang Y, Chen H, Yu C: *Faecalibacterium prausnitzii* inhibits interleukin-17 to ameliorate colorectal colitis in rats. *PLoS One* 2014, **9**(10):e109146.
- 205. Miquel S, Leclerc M, Martin R, Chain F, Lenoir M, Raguideau S, Hudault S, Bridonneau C, Northen T, Bowen B, Bermúdez-Humarán LG, Sokol H, Thomas M, Langella P: Identification of metabolic signatures linked to anti-inflammatory effects of *Faecalibacterium prausnitzii*. mBio 2015, 6(2).
- 206. Jie Z, Xia H, Zhong SL, Feng Q, Li S, Liang S, Zhong H, Liu Z, Gao Y, Zhao H, Zhang D, Su Z, Fang Z, Lan Z, Li J, Xiao L, Li J, Li R, Li X, Li F, Ren H, Huang Y, Peng Y, Li G, Wen B, Dong B, Chen JY, Geng QS, Zhang ZW, Yang H, Wang J, Wang J, Zhang X, Madsen L, Brix S, Ning G, Xu X, Liu X, Hou Y, Jia H, He K, Kristiansen K: The gut microbiome in atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease. *Nature Communications* 2017, 8(1):845.
- 207. Liang QY, Zhang JY, Ning D, Yu WX, Chen GJ, Tao X, Zhou J, Du ZJ, Mu DS: Niche modification by sulfate-reducing bacteria drives microbial community assembly in anoxic marine sediments. *mBio* 2023, 14(2):e0353522.
- 208. Hausmann B, Pelikan C, Rattei T, Loy A, Pester M: Long-term transcriptional activity at zero growth of a cosmopolitan rare biosphere member. *mBio* 2019, **10**(1).
- 209. Kushkevych I, Leščanová O, Dordević D, Jančíková S, Hošek J, Vítězová M, Buňková L, Drago L: The sulfate-reducing microbial communities and meta-analysis of their occurrence during diseases of small–large intestine axis. *Journal of Clinical Medicine* 2019, 8(10):1656.
- 210. Kushkevych IV: Dissimilatory sulfate reduction in the intestinal sulfate-reducing bacteria. *Studia Biologica* 2016, **10**(1):197-228.
- Wegmann U, Palop CN, Mayer MJ, Crost E, Narbad A: Complete genome sequence of Desulfovibrio piger FI11049. Genome Announcements 2017, 5(7):e01528-01516.
- 212. Rey F, Gonzalez M, Cheng J, Wu M, Ahern P, Gordon J: Metabolic niche of a prominent sulfate-reducing human gut bacterium. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 2013, 110(33):13582-13587.
- 213. Mutuyemungu E, Singh M, Liu S, Rose DJ: Intestinal gas production by the gut microbiota: A review. *Journal of Functional Foods* 2023, 100:105367.
- 214. Ren Z, Xu Y, Li T, Sun W, Tang Z, Wang Y, Zhou K, Li J, Ding Q, Liang K, Wu L, Yin Y, Sun Z: **NAD+ and its possible role in gut microbiota: Insights on the mechanisms by which gut microbes influence host metabolism**. *Animal Nutrition* 2022, **10**:360-371.
- 215. Chellappa K, McReynolds MR, Lu W, Zeng X, Makarov M, Hayat F, Mukherjee S, Bhat YR, Lingala SR, Shima RT, Descamps HC, Cox T, Ji L, Jankowski C, Chu Q, Davidson SM, Thaiss CA, Migaud ME, Rabinowitz JD, Baur JA: NAD precursors cycle between host tissues and the gut microbiome. *Cell Metabolism* 2022, 34(12):1947-1959.e1945.
- 216. Ran S, Mu C, Zhu W: Diversity and community pattern of sulfate-reducing bacteria in piglet gut. *Journal of Animal Science and Biotechnology* 2019, **10**(1).
- 217. Florin THJ, Neale G, Goretski S, Cummings JH: The sulfate content of foods and beverages. *Journal of Food Composition and Analysis* 1993, 6(2):140-151.

- 218. Loubinoux J, Bronowicki J-P, Pereira IAC, Mougenel J-L, Le Faou AE: Sulfate-reducing bacteria in human feces and their association with inflammatory bowel diseases. *FEMS Microbiology Ecology* 2002, 40(2):107-112.
- 219. Postgate JR, Campbell LL: Classification of *Desulfovibrio* species, the nonsporulating sulfate-reducing bacteria. *Bacteriological Reviews* 1966, **30**(4):732-738.
- 220. Warren Y, Citron D, Merriam CV, Goldstein EJC: Biochemical differentiation and comparison of *Desulfovibrio* species and other phenotypically similar genera. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology* 2005, **43**(8):4041-4045.
- 221. Kushkevych I: Identification of sulfate-reducing bacteria strains of human large intestine *Studia Biologica* 2013, 7(3):115-132.
- 222. Bisson-Boutelliez C, Massin F, Dumas D, Miller N, Lozniewski A: *Desulfovibrio* spp. survive within KB cells and modulate inflammatory responses. *Molecular Oral Microbiology* 2010, 25(3):226-235.
- 223. Coutinho CMLM, Coutinho-Silva R, Zinkevich V, Pearce CB, Ojcius DM, Beech I: Sulphate-reducing bacteria from ulcerative colitis patients induce apoptosis of gastrointestinal epithelial cells. *Microbial Pathogenesis* 2017, **112**:126-134.
- 224. Finegold SM: *Desulfovibrio* species are potentially important in regressive autism. *Medical Hypotheses* 2011, 77(2):270-274.
- 225. Huynh VA, Takala TM, Murros KE, Diwedi B, Saris PEJ: Desulfovibrio bacteria enhance alpha-synuclein aggregation in a Caenorhabditis elegans model of Parkinson's disease. Frontiers in Cellular and Infection Microbiology 2023, 13:1181315.
- 226. Murros KE, Huynh VA, Takala TM, Saris PEJ: *Desulfovibrio* bacteria are associated with Parkinson's disease. *Frontiers in Cellular and Infection Microbiology* 2021, 11:652617.
- 227. Rowan F, Docherty NG, Murphy M, Murphy B, Coffey JC, O'Connell PR: **Desulfovibrio bacterial species are increased in ulcerative colitis**. *Diseases of the Colon & Rectum* 2010, **53**(11).
- 228. Singh SB, Carroll-Portillo A, Lin HC: Desulfovibrio in the gut: The enemy within? *Microorganisms* 2023, 11(7).
- 229. Goldstein EJ, Citron DM, Peraino VA, Cross SA: Desulfovibrio desulfuricans bacteremia and review of human Desulfovibrio infections. Journal of Clinical Microbiology 2003, 41(6):2752-2754.
- 230. Porschen RK, Chan P: Anaerobic vibrio-like organisms cultured from blood: *Desulfovibrio desulfuricans* and *Succinivibrio species*. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology* 1977, **5**(4):444-447.
- 231. Pimentel JD, Chan RC: *Desulfovibrio fairfieldensis* bacteremia associated with choledocholithiasis and endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology* 2007, **45**(8):2747-2750.
- 232. McDougall R, Robson J, Paterson D, Tee W: Bacteremia caused by a recently described novel *Desulfovibrio species*. Journal of Clinical Microbiology 1997, 35(7):1805-1808.
- 233. Lozniewski A, Maurer P, Schuhmacher H, Carlier JP, Mory F: First isolation of *Desulfovibrio* species as part of a polymicrobial infection from a brain abscess. *European Journal of Clinical Microbiology & Infectious Diseases* 1999, **18**(8):602-603.
- 234. Loubinoux J, Mory F, Pereira IA, Le Faou AE: Bacteremia caused by a strain of *Desulfovibrio* related to the provisionally named *Desulfovibrio fairfieldensis*. Journal of Clinical Microbiology 2000, **38**(2):931-934.

- 235. La Scola B, Raoult D: Third human isolate of a *Desulfovibrio* sp. identical to the provisionally named *Desulfovibrio fairfieldensis*. Journal of Clinical Microbiology 1999, **37**(9):3076-3077.
- 236. Fite A, Macfarlane GT, Cummings JH, Hopkins MJ, Kong SC, Furrie E, Macfarlane S: Identification and quantitation of mucosal and faecal *Desulfovibrios* using real time polymerase chain reaction. *Gut* 2004, **53**(4):523-529.
- 237. Scanlan PD, Shanahan F, Marchesi JR: Culture-independent analysis of *Desulfovibrios* in the human distal colon of healthy, colorectal cancer and polypectomized individuals. *FEMS Microbiology Ecology* 2009, **69**(2):213-221.
- 238. Pitcher MC, Beatty ER, Cummings JH: The contribution of sulphate reducing bacteria and 5-aminosalicylic acid to faecal sulphide in patients with ulcerative colitis. *Gut* 2000, **46**(1):64-72.
- 239. Van Rossum T, Ferretti P, Maistrenko OM, Bork P: Diversity within species: Interpreting strains in microbiomes. *Nature Reviews Microbiology* 2020, 18(9):491-506.
- 240. Leimbach A, Hacker J, Dobrindt U: *E. coli* as an all-rounder: The thin line between commensalism and pathogenicity. *Current Topics in Microbiology and Immunology* 2013, **358**:3-32.
- 241. Okamoto Y, Miyabe Y, Seki M, Ushio Y, Sato K, Kasama E, Akiyama K, Karasawa K, Uchida K, Kikuchi K, Nitta K, Moriyama T, Hoshino J: First case of a renal cyst infection caused by *Desulfovibrio*: A case report and literature review. *BMC Nephrology* 2022, 23(1):194.
- 242. Lennon G, Balfe Á, Bambury N, Lavelle A, Maguire A, Docherty NG, Coffey JC, Winter DC, Sheahan K, O'Connell PR: Correlations between colonic crypt mucin chemotype, inflammatory grade and *Desulfovibrio* species in ulcerative colitis. *Colorectal Disease* 2014, 16(5):O161-169.
- 243. Machaca M, Bodean ML, Montaña S, García SD, Stecher D, Vay CA, Almuzara MN: **Description of a case of abdominal sepsis due to** *Desulfovibrio desulfuricans*. *Revista Argentina de Microbiología* 2022, **54**(4):314-317.
- 244. Marquis TJ, Williams VJ, Banach DB: Septic arthritis caused by *Desulfovibrio desulfuricans*: A case report and review of the literature. *Anaerobe* 2021, **70**:102407.
- 245. Liderot K, Larsson M, Boräng S, Ozenci V: Polymicrobial bloodstream infection with *Eggerthella lenta* and *Desulfovibrio desulfuricans*. Journal of Clinical Microbiology 2010, **48**(10):3810-3812.
- 246. Predari SC, de Paulis AN, Bertona E, Guevara Núñez D, Suárez JP, Castello L: *Anaerobiospirillum succiniciproducens* y *Desulfovibrio desulfuricans* en 2 casos de bacteriemias insidiosas. *Revista Argentina de Microbiología* 2017, 49(2):146-152.
- 247. Hagiya H, Kimura K, Nishi I, Yamamoto N, Yoshida H, Akeda Y, Tomono K: *Desulfovibrio desulfuricans* bacteremia: A case report and literature review. *Anaerobe* 2018, **49**:112-115.
- 248. Gaillard T, Pons S, Darles C, Beausset O, Monchal T, Brisou P: *Desulfovibrio fairfieldensis* bacteremia associated with acute sigmoiditis. *Médecine et Maladies Infectieuses* 2011, 41(5):267-268.
- 249. Koyano S, Tatsuno K, Okazaki M, Ohkusu K, Sasaki T, Saito R, Okugawa S, Moriya K: A case of liver abscess with *Desulfovibrio desulfuricans* bacteremia. *Case Reports in Infectious Diseases* 2015, 2015:354168.

- 250. Hagiwara S, Yoshida A, Omata Y, Tsukada Y, Takahashi H, Kamewada H, Koike S, Okuzumi K, Hishinuma A, Kobayashi K, Nakano M: *Desulfovibrio desulfuricans* bacteremia in a patient hospitalized with acute cerebral infarction: Case report and review. *Journal of Infection and Chemotherapy* 2014, **20**(4):274-277.
- 251. Verstreken I, Laleman W, Wauters G, Verhaegen J: *Desulfovibrio desulfuricans* bacteremia in an immunocompromised host with a liver graft and ulcerative colitis. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology* 2012, **50**(1):199-201.
- 252. Weglarz L, Dzierzewicz Z, Skop B, Orchel A, Parfiniewicz B, Wiśniowska B, Swiatkowska L, Wilczok T: *Desulfovibrio desulfuricans* lipopolysaccharides induce endothelial cell IL-6 and IL-8 secretion and E-selectin and VCAM-1 expression. *Cellular & Molecular Biology Letters* 2003, 8(4):991-1003.
- 253. Kapral M, Węglarz L, Parfiniewicz B, Lodowska J, Jaworska-Kik M: Quantitative evaluation of transcriptional activation of NF-κB p65 and p50 subunits and IκBa encoding genes in colon cancer cells by *Desulfovibrio desulfuricans* endotoxin. *Folia Microbiologica* 2010, **55**(6):657-661.
- 254. Dzierzewicz Z, Szczerba J, Lodowska J, Wolny D, Gruchlik A, Orchel A, Weglarz L: The role of *Desulfovibrio desulfuricans* lipopolysaccharides in modulation of periodontal inflammation through stimulation of human gingival fibroblasts. *Archives of Oral Biology* 2010, **55**(7):515-522.
- 255. Karnachuk OV, Ikkert OP, Avakyan MR, Knyazev YV, M NV, Zyusman VS, Panov VL, Kadnikov VV, Mardanov AV, Ravin NV: *Desulfovibrio desulfuricans* AY5 isolated from a patient with autism spectrum disorder binds iron in low-soluble greigite and pyrite. *Microorganisms* 2021, 9(12).
- 256. Urata T, Kikuchi M, Hino T, Yoda Y, Tamai K, Kodaira Y, Hitomi S: **Bacteremia caused by** *Desulfovibrio fairfieldensis*. *Journal of Infection and Chemotherapy* 2008, **14**(5):368-370.
- 257. Nie Y, Xie XQ, Zhou L, Guan Q, Ren Y, Mao Y, Shi JS, Xu ZH, Geng Y: *Desulfovibrio fairfieldensis*-derived outer membrane vesicles damage epithelial barrier and induce inflammation and pyroptosis in macrophages. *Cells* 2022, **12**(1).
- 258. Moore WEC, Johnson JL, Holdeman LV: Emendation of Bacteroidaceae and Butyrivibrio and descriptions of Desulfomonas gen. nov. and ten new species in the genera Desulfomonas, Butyrivibrio, Eubacterium, Clostridium, and Ruminococcus. International Journal of Systematic Bacteriology 1976, 26(2):238-252.
- 259. Rey FE, Gonzalez MD, Cheng J, Wu M, Ahern PP, Gordon JI: Metabolic niche of a prominent sulfate-reducing human gut bacterium. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 2013, 110(33):13582-13587.
- 260. Chen Y-R, Jing Q-L, Chen F-L, Zheng H, Chen L-D, Yang Z-C: *Desulfovibrio* is not always associated with adverse health effects in the Guangdong Gut Microbiome **Project**. *PeerJ* 2021, **9**:e12033.
- 261. Lin Y-C, Lin H-F, Wu C-C, Chen C-L, Ni Y-H: Pathogenic effects of *Desulfovibrio* in the gut on fatty liver in diet-induced obese mice and children with obesity. *Journal of Gastroenterology* 2022, **57**(11):913-925.
- 262. Pichette J, Fynn-Sackey N, Gagnon J: Hydrogen sulfide and sulfate prebiotic stimulates the secretion of GLP-1 and improves glycemia in male mice. *Endocrinology* 2017, **158**(10):3416-3425.
- 263. Rossi O, van Berkel LA, Chain F, Tanweer Khan M, Taverne N, Sokol H, Duncan SH, Flint HJ, Harmsen HJM, Langella P, Samsom JN, Wells JM: *Faecalibacterium prausnitzii* A2-165 has a high capacity to induce IL-10 in human and murine dendritic cells and modulates T cell responses. *Scientific Reports* 2016, 6(1):18507.

- 264. O'Toole PW, Marchesi JR, Hill C: Next-generation probiotics: The spectrum from probiotics to live biotherapeutics. *Nature Microbiology* 2017, **2**:17057.
- 265. Almeida A, Nayfach S, Boland M, Strozzi F, Beracochea M, Shi ZJ, Pollard KS, Sakharova E, Parks DH, Hugenholtz P, Segata N, Kyrpides NC, Finn RD: A unified catalog of 204,938 reference genomes from the human gut microbiome. *Nature Biotechnology* 2021, 39(1):105-114.
- 266. Khan MT, Dwibedi C, Sundh D, Pradhan M, Kraft JD, Caesar R, Tremaroli V, Lorentzon M, Bäckhed F: Synergy and oxygen adaptation for development of next-generation probiotics. *Nature* 2023, 620:381–385.
- 267. Gilijamse PW, Hartstra AV, Levin E, Wortelboer K, Serlie MJ, Ackermans MT, Herrema H, Nederveen AJ, Imangaliyev S, Aalvink S, Sommer M, Levels H, Stroes ESG, Groen AK, Kemper M, de Vos WM, Nieuwdorp M, Prodan A: Treatment with Anaerobutyricum soehngenii: A pilot study of safety and dose-response effects on glucose metabolism in human subjects with metabolic syndrome. NPJ Biofilms Microbiomes 2020, 6(1):16.
- 268. Perraudeau F, McMurdie P, Bullard J, Cheng A, Cutcliffe C, Deo A, Eid J, Gines J, Iyer M, Justice N, Loo WT, Nemchek M, Schicklberger M, Souza M, Stoneburner B, Tyagi S, Kolterman O: Improvements to postprandial glucose control in subjects with type 2 diabetes: A multicenter, double blind, randomized placebo-controlled trial of a novel probiotic formulation. *BMJ Open Diabetes Research & Care* 2020, 8(1).
- 269. Masopust D, Sivula CP, Jameson SC: Of mice, dirty mice, and men: Using mice to understand human immunology. *Journal of Immunology* 2017, **199**(2):383-388.
- 270. Nguyen TL, Vieira-Silva S, Liston A, Raes J: **How informative is the mouse for human** gut microbiota research? *Disease Models & Mechanisms* 2015, 8(1):1-16.
- 271. Mallott EK, Amato KR: Host specificity of the gut microbiome. *Nature Reviews Microbiology* 2021, **19**(10):639-653.
- 272. Schwarz R, Kaspar A, Seelig J, Künnecke B: Gastrointestinal transit times in mice and humans measured with 27Al and 19F nuclear magnetic resonance. *Magnetic Resonance in Medicine* 2002, 48(2):255-261.
- 273. Hugenholtz F, de Vos WM: **Mouse models for human intestinal microbiota research:** A critical evaluation. *Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences* 2018, **75**(1):149-160.
- 274. Straniero S, Laskar A, Savva C, Härdfeldt J, Angelin B, Rudling M: Of mice and men: Murine bile acids explain species differences in the regulation of bile acid and cholesterol metabolism. *Journal of Lipid Research* 2020, **61**(4):480-491.
- 275. Krych L, Hansen CH, Hansen AK, van den Berg FW, Nielsen DS: Quantitatively different, yet qualitatively alike: A meta-analysis of the mouse core gut microbiome with a view towards the human gut microbiome. *PLoS One* 2013, **8**(5):e62578.
- 276. Park JC, Im SH: Of men in mice: The development and application of a humanized gnotobiotic mouse model for microbiome therapeutics. *Experimental & Molecular Medicine* 2020, **52**(9):1383-1396.
- 277. Zhang C, Franklin CL, Ericsson AC: Consideration of gut microbiome in murine models of diseases. *Microorganisms* 2021, 9(5).
- 278. Cohen JN, Tewalt EF, Rouhani SJ, Buonomo EL, Bruce AN, Xu X, Bekiranov S, Fu YX, Engelhard VH: Tolerogenic properties of lymphatic endothelial cells are controlled by the lymph node microenvironment. *PLoS One* 2014, **9**(2):e87740.
- 279. Basha S, Surendran N, Pichichero M: **Immune responses in neonates**. *Expert Review of Clinical Immunology* 2014, **10**(9):1171-1184.

- 280. Lea T: Caco-2 Cell Line. In: The Impact of Food Bioactives on Health: In vitro and ex vivo models. Edited by Verhoeckx K, Cotter P, López-Expósito I, Kleiveland C, Lea T, Mackie A, Requena T, Swiatecka D, Wichers H. Cham (CH): Springer Copyright 2015: 103-111.
- 281. Lopez-Escalera S, Wellejus A: Evaluation of Caco-2 and human intestinal epithelial cells as in vitro models of colonic and small intestinal integrity. *Biochemistry and Biophysics Reports* 2022, **31**:101314.
- 282. Drescher H, Weiskirchen S, Weiskirchen R: Flow cytometry: A blessing and a curse. *Biomedicines* 2021, 9(11).
- 283. Berg G, Rybakova D, Fischer D, Cernava T, Vergès MC, Charles T, Chen X, Cocolin L, Eversole K, Corral GH, Kazou M, Kinkel L, Lange L, Lima N, Loy A, Macklin JA, Maguin E, Mauchline T, McClure R, Mitter B, Ryan M, Sarand I, Smidt H, Schelkle B, Roume H, Kiran GS, Selvin J, Souza RSC, van Overbeek L, Singh BK, Wagner M, Walsh A, Sessitsch A, Schloter M: Microbiome definition re-visited: Old concepts and new challenges. *Microbiome* 2020, 8(1):103.
- 284. Gacesa R, Kurilshikov A, Vich Vila A, Sinha T, Klaassen MAY, Bolte LA, Andreu-Sánchez S, Chen L, Collij V, Hu S, Dekens JAM, Lenters VC, Björk JR, Swarte JC, Swertz MA, Jansen BH, Gelderloos-Arends J, Jankipersadsing S, Hofker M, Vermeulen RCH, Sanna S, Harmsen HJM, Wijmenga C, Fu J, Zhernakova A, Weersma RK: Environmental factors shaping the gut microbiome in a Dutch population. *Nature* 2022, 604(7907):732-739.
- 285. Thursby E, Juge N: Introduction to the human gut microbiota. *Biochemical Journal* 2017, **474**(11):1823-1836.
- 286. Hillman ET, Lu H, Yao T, Nakatsu CH: Microbial ecology along the gastrointestinal tract. *Microbes and Environments* 2017, **32**(4):300-313.
- 287. Postgate JR: The Sulfate Reducing Bacteria. Cambridge, UK: Cambridge University Press; 1984.
- 288. Jacques LC, Green AE, Barton TE, Baltazar M, Aleksandrowicz J, Xu R, Trochu E, Kadioglu A, Neill DR: Influence of Streptococcus pneumoniae within-strain population diversity on virulence and pathogenesis. Microbiology Spectrum 2023, 11(1):e0310322.
- 289. Lenski RE: Experimental evolution and the dynamics of adaptation and genome evolution in microbial populations. *ISME Journal* 2017, **11**(10):2181-2194.
- 290. Database. JSE: Growth curves: Generating growth curves using colony forming units and optical density measurements. *JoVE Science Education Database Microbiology* 2023.
- 291. Mira P, Yeh P, Hall BG: Estimating microbial population data from optical density. *PLoS One* 2022, **17**(10):e0276040.
- 292. Chen LX, Anantharaman K, Shaiber A, Eren AM, Banfield JF: Accurate and complete genomes from metagenomes. *Genome Research* 2020, **30**(3):315-333.
- 293. Gavins FNE: Are formyl peptide receptors novel targets for therapeutic intervention in ischaemia-reperfusion injury? *Trends in Pharmacological Sciences* 2010, 31(6):266-276.
- 294. Cooray SN, Gobbetti T, Montero-Melendez T, McArthur S, Thompson D, Clark AJ, Flower RJ, Perretti M: Ligand-specific conformational change of the G-proteincoupled receptor ALX/FPR2 determines proresolving functional responses. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 2013, 110(45):18232-18237.

- 295. He HQ, Troksa EL, Caltabiano G, Pardo L, Ye RD: Structural determinants for the interaction of formyl peptide receptor 2 with peptide ligands. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 2014, **289**(4):2295-2306.
- 296. Kim SK, Keeney SE, Alpard SK, Schmalstieg FC: Comparison of L-selectin and CD11b on neutrophils of adults and neonates during the first month of life. *Pediatric Research* 2003, **53**(1):132-136.
- 297. Loubinoux J, Jaulhac B, Piemont Y, Monteil H, Le Faou AE: Isolation of sulfatereducing bacteria from human thoracoabdominal pus. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology* 2003, **41**(3):1304-1306.
- 298. Jia W, Whitehead RN, Griffiths L, Dawson C, Bai H, Waring RH, Ramsden DB, Hunter JO, Cauchi M, Bessant C, Fowler DP, Walton C, Turner C, Cole JA: Diversity and distribution of sulphate-reducing bacteria in human faeces from healthy subjects and patients with inflammatory bowel disease. *FEMS Immunology and Medical Microbiology* 2012, **65**(1):55-68.
- Fülöp T, Larbi A, Witkowski JM: Human inflammaging. *Gerontology* 2019, 65(5):495-504.
- 300. Lo Sasso G, Schlage WK, Boué S, Veljkovic E, Peitsch MC, Hoeng J: **The Apoe(-/-)** mouse model: A suitable model to study cardiovascular and respiratory diseases in the context of cigarette smoke exposure and harm reduction. *Journal of Translational Medicine* 2016, 14(1):146.
- 301. Goodman AL, McNulty NP, Zhao Y, Leip D, Mitra RD, Lozupone CA, Knight R, Gordon JI: Identifying genetic determinants needed to establish a human gut symbiont in its habitat. Cell Host Microbe 2009, 6(3):279-289.